

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO ESPÍRITO SANTO CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS HUMANAS E NATURAIS DEPARTAMENTO DE OCEANOGRAFIA E ECOLOGIA PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM OCEANOGRAFIA AMBIENTAL







DISTRIBUIÇÃO E BIODIVERSIDADE DE PEIXES RECIFAIS EM ILHAS OCEÂNICAS BRASILEIRAS: ANALISANDO MÚLTIPLOS HABITATS

Caio Ribeiro Pimentel







Vitória / ES 2021

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO ESPÍRITO SANTO CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS HUMANAS E NATURAIS DEPARTAMENTO DE OCEANOGRAFIA E ECOLOGIA PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM OCENOGRAFIA AMBIENTAL

Caio Ribeiro Pimentel

DISTRIBUIÇÃO E BIODIVERSIDADE DE PEIXES RECIFAIS EM ILHAS OCEÂNICAS BRASILEIRAS: ANALISANDO MÚLTIPLOS HABITATS

Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Oceanografia Ambiental da Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, como requisito parcial para obtenção do título de Doutor em Oceanografia Ambiental.

Orientador: Dr. Jean-Christophe Joyeux Coorientador: Dr. Tommaso Giarrizzo

Vitória / ES 2021

Ficha catalográfica disponibilizada pelo Sistema Integrado de Bibliotecas - SIBI/UFES e elaborada pelo autor

Pimentel, Caio Ribeiro, 1984-

P644d Distribuição e biodiversidade de peixes recifais em ilhas oceânicas brasileiras: analisando múltiplos habitats / Caio Ribeiro Pimentel. - 2021. 105 f. : il.

> Orientador: Jean-Christophe Joyeux. Coorientador: Tommaso Giarrizzo.

Tese (Doutorado em Oceanografia Ambiental) -Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, Centro de Ciências Humanas e Naturais.

Ecologia marinha. 2. Biologia marinha. 3. Oceanografia.
Joyeux, Jean-Christophe. II. Giarrizzo, Tommaso. III.
Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo. Centro de Ciências
Humanas e Naturais. IV. Título.

CDU: 55



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO ESPÍRITO SANTO Centro de Ciências Humanas e Naturais Programa de Pós-Graduação em Oceanografia Ambiental

TESE DE DOUTORADO

"DISTRIBUIÇÃO E BIODIVERSIDADE DE PEIXES RECIFAIS BRASILEIROS: EXPLORANDO HABITATS BENTÔNICOS DA ZONA MESOFÓTICA"

por

Caio Ribeiro Pimentel

Prof. Dr. Jean-Christophe Joyeux Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo (via webconferência)

Prof. Dr. Maurício Hostim Silva Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo (via webconferência)

Flimonde Q. Rolin

Profa. Dra. Fernanda Andreoli Rolim Universidade Estadual Paulista (via webconferência)

Ricando Santa

Prof. Dr. Ricardo Clapis Garla Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte (via webconferência)

Cino Colesdetti Vitor de Aronjo

Prof. Dr. Ciro Vilar Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo (via webconferência)





Base Oceanográfica de Aracruz - CCHN/UFES | Programa de Pós-Graduação em Oceanografia Ambiental (PPGOAM) | http://www.oceanografia.ufes.br/pos-graduacao/PPGOAM | oceanografiaambiental@gmail.com

Agradecimentos

Essa tese, assim como todo o meu processo de doutoramento, não seria possível sem o apoio, incentivo e parceira de diversas pessoas e instituições. Agradeço imensamente a todos que, de alguma forma, fizeram parte dessa trajetória.

Ao meu querido orientador, Dr. Jean-Christophe Joyeux, que desde de 2004 faz parte da minha vida acadêmica e pessoal, transferindo muito além de simplesmente conhecimentos acadêmico-científicos. Francês, é uma honra incomensurável ser seu aluno e amigo, e saiba que sou eternamente grato por tudo que fez por mim!

A Tommaso Giarrizzo, coorientador entusiasta da ciência, que me confiou a condução dos trabalhos com essa nova abordagem que são os BRUVS, ainda desconhecida por mim e por muitos no Brasil. Obrigado, Tom, por todo incentivo, confiança, financiamento e disposição em ajudar sempre que me foi necessário!

Ao Dr. Luiz A. Rocha por me orientar durante o doutorado sanduíche, e por me ajudar enquanto estive na Califórnia! Obrigado por todo suporte e conhecimento transferidos!

Ao Dr. Carlos Eduardo. L. Ferreira (Cadu) e Dr. Angêlo F. Bernardino por financiarem parte dos projetos que participei ao longo desses 4 anos. Nada disso seria possível sem a ajuda e suporte de vocês.

A todos os amigos (as) do Laboratório de Ictiologia da UFES, aqueles que permanecem e os que já fizeram parte dessa equipe fantástica. Saibam que foi um prazer enorme conviver e aprender com todos vocês! Em especial à equipe dos BRUVS, Stephanie, Vinicius e Lara, por me ajudarem no campo e nas análises de tantas horas de vídeos. A todos que participarem das árduas, porém fantásticas, expedições científicas para coleta de dados.

Aos professores do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Oceanografia Ambiental por todo conhecimento transferido, em especial ao coordenador do Programa, professor Renato Ghisolfi, por todo suporte ao longo desses anos.

Aos membros da banca avaliadora, Dr. Maurício Hostim, Dr. Ciro Vilar, Dra. Fernanda Rolim e Dr. Ricardo Garla, por aceitarem participar desta etapa final e de relevante importância para a conclusão e aprimoramento desta tese.

À minha família, base de tudo na minha vida! Minha mãe Bernadete, meu pai Rogério (Mick Jagger do pandeiro) e minha irmã Clara (fofinha), meus maiores incentivadores e fãs. Amo vocês! Agradeço também a todos os parentes e amigos que me acompanharam e incentivaram nesses 4 anos de doutorado, sofreram e sorriram comigo, em especial à minha madrinha tia Pepenha e meu padrinho tio Danilo, por todo apoio e incentivo, e aos amigos batata, Bonesi, Joe, Serrano, Marcel, Marcillo, que sempre se fizeram presentes para uma boa resenha. Agradeço também ao meu primo Pedro Laino e ao Serrano pela parceria e ajuda na elaboração dos mapas desta tese.

À Capes e Fapes por financiarem as minhas bolsas de estudo e permitirem que a ciência brasileira ainda pulse.

Sumário

Introdução geral	15
Capítulo 1 – Pelagic and mesophotic reef fishes of the oceanic Sain	t Peter and Saint Paul's
Archipelago (Equatorial Atlantic) suggest linked systems	21
Abstract	21
Introduction	22
Material and Methods	23
Study área	23
Sampling procedures	26
Video analysis	26
Data analysis	
Results	27
Pelagic assemblages	27
Mesophotic reef assemblages	
Ecosystems connections	35
Discussion	
Pelagic assemblages	
Mesophotic reef assemblages	
Ecosystems connections	
References	40
Acknowledgements	47
Supporting information	48
Capítulo 2 - Fish assemblages habitat distribution in a remote S	South Atlantic oceanic
island	
Abstract	
Introduction	53
Material and Methods	54
Study area	54
Sampling procedures	57
Video analysis	57
Data analysis	57
Results	58
Discussion	66

References	68
Supporting information	75
Capítulo 3 - Mesophotic ecosystems at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, l	Brazil
(Southwestern Atlantic), reveal unique ichthyofauna and need	for
conservation	81
Capítulo 4 - BRUVS reveal locally extinct shark and the way for shark monitori	ing in
Brazilian oceanic islands	99
Conclusão geral	104

Lista de Figuras

Capítulo 1 – Pelagic and mesophotic reef fishes of the oceanic Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago (Equatorial Atlantic) suggest linked systems

Capítulo 2 – Fish assemblages habitat distribution in a remote South Atlantic oceanic island

Figure 7: Relationships between the average vulnerability (A), abundance (MaxN; B) and richness (C and D) of endemic species with the depth gradient and the proportion of benthic habitats obtained by the selected generalized additive models. The coloured areas represent 95% confidence interval. All models presented are significant (p < 0.05)......66

Lista de Tabelas

Capítulo 1 – Pelagic and mesophotic reef fishes of the oceanic Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago (Equatorial Atlantic) suggest linked systems

Capítulo 2 – Fish assemblages habitat distribution in a remote South Atlantic oceanic island

Resumo

Peixes recifais são eficientes modelos para a realização de estudos ecológicos em escalas espaciais e temporais relativamente pequenas, permitindo compreender como algumas características ambientais estruturam suas comunidades. Nesse sentido, a profundidade e o habitat bentônico (e.g., recifes, bancos de rodolitos e macroalgas) são umas das características ambientais mais importantes. Apesar da singularidade e vulnerabilidade das comunidades de peixes recifais brasileiros, ainda sabemos pouco sobre a biodiversidade e os padrões de distribuição das espécies em habitats mesofóticos (que ocorrem entre 30 e 150 m de profundidade). Portanto, o principal objetivo desta tese foi analisar a composição e estrutura das assembleias de peixes em diferentes ilhas oceânicas brasileiras, visando entender principalmente como a profundidade e os habitats atuam na estruturação dessas assembleias. Foram utilizados sistemas de estéreo-vídeos subaquáticos com isca (stereo-BRUVS) para explorar diversos habitats bentônicos, ao longo de um amplo gradiente de profundidade (~ 10 a 90 m) nas ilhas oceânicas de Trindade, Arquipélago de Fernando de Noronha e Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo (ASPSP). Inesperadamente, no ASPSP as assembleias de peixes recifais não apresentaram estruturação em função do gradiente de profundidade. A distribuição das espécies está mais associada a eventos de ressurgência e subsidência, que alteram drasticamente a temperatura da água e influenciam o movimento vertical das espécies no recife. Além disso, diversas espécies foram registradas tanto no ambiente pelágico quanto nos recifes, sugerindo a existência de conexão ecológica entre esses ambientes, por meio do fluxo de matéria e energia. Por sua vez, a plataforma insular da Ilha da Trindade compreende um mosaico de habitats bentônicos interconectados, os quais diferem em riqueza, abundância e biomassa das assembleias de peixes. Os recifes apresentaram maior riqueza e abundância, assim como maior proporção de espécies exclusivas, seguidos pelos bancos de rodolitos, bancos de macroalgas e fundos de areia. A profundidade foi considerada uma característica intrínseca dos habitats, uma vez que estes não se distribuem continuamente ao longo do gradiente batimétrico da plataforma. Essas características ambientais, portanto, atuam em sinergia na estruturação das assembleias de peixes. Em relação à biodiversidade, por meio dos stereo-BRUVS foi possível analisar a composição específica e abundância de tubarões nessas duas ilhas oceânicas, incluindo uma espécie considerada localmente extinta no ASPSP. Em Fernando de Noronha, dos 19 novos registros, três foram realizados por meio dos stereo-BRUVS. Esses resultados reforçam a necessidade de estratégias de gestão integrada dos habitats eufóticos e mesofóticos, bentônicos e pelágicos, recifais ou não-recifais, visando a conservação da biodiversidade, das funções ecológicas e da conectividade nos ambientes marinhos.

Palavras-chave: BRUVS, bancos de rodolitos, conservação, ecologia marinha, endêmicos, espécies ameaçadas, ilhas oceânicas, recifes.

Abstract

Reef fish are efficient models for carrying out ecological studies at relatively small spatial and temporal scales, allowing us to understand how some environmental characteristics structure their communities. In this sense, depth and benthic habitat (e.g., reefs, rhodolith beds and macroalgae) are one of the most important environmental characteristics. Despite the uniqueness and vulnerability of Brazilian reef fish communities, we still know little about the biodiversity and distribution patterns of species in mesophotic habitats (which occur between 30 and 150 m deep). Therefore, the main objective of this thesis was to analyze the composition and structure of fish assemblages in different Brazilian oceanic islands, aiming to understand mainly how depth and habitats act structuring these assemblages. Baited remote underwater stereo-video systems (stereo-BRUVS) were used to explore diverse benthic habitats along a wide depth gradient (~10 to 90 m) at Trindade Island, Fernando de Noronha Archipelago and Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago (SPSPA), as well as on the east coast of Brazil. Unexpectedly, in SPSPA reef fish assemblages were not structured according to the depth gradient. Species distribution was more associated with up and down-welling events, which drastically change the temperature and influence the vertical movement of fishes along the reef. Furthermore, several species were recorded in both pelagic and reef environments, suggesting ecological connections between them, through the flux of matter and energy. In turn, the Trindade Island insular shelf comprises a mosaic of interconnected benthic habitats, which differ in richness, abundance and biomass of fish assemblages. Reefs showed greater richness and abundance, as well as a greater proportion of exclusive species, followed by rhodolith beds, macroalgae beds, and sandy bottoms. Depth was considered an intrinsic characteristic of habitats, as they are not continuously distributed along the bathymetric gradient of the insular shelf. These environmental characteristics, therefore, act in synergy in the structuring of fish assemblages. Regarding biodiversity, using stereo-BRUVS it was possible to analyze the composition and abundance of shark species in these two oceanic islands, including a species considered locally extinct in SPSPA. In Fernando de Noronha, stereo-BRUVS accounted for three new records. These results reinforce the need for integrated management strategies that include euphotic and mesophotic, benthic and pelagic habitats, reefs or non-reefs, aiming at the conservation of biodiversity, ecological functions and connectivity in marine environments.

Keywords: BRUVS, rhodolith beds, conservation, marine ecology, endemic, endangered species, oceanic islands, reefs.

Introdução geral

Peixe recifais possibilitam a realização de estudos ecológicos em escalas espaciais e temporais relativamente pequenas, permitindo compreender como as características ambientais estruturam suas assembleias (Sale, 1991). Dentre essas características, destacam-se o tipo de habitat e a profundidade como importantes preditores (Pearson & Stevens, 2015; Andradi-Brown *et al.*, 2016; Heyns-Veale *et al.*, 2016; Asher *et al.*, 2017). As assembleias podem responder a esses fatores desde variações na escala de microhabitats (Pereira, 2017; Brandl *et al.*, 2018), macrohabitats e ecossistemas (Harvey *et al.*, 2013; Longo *et al.*, 2015; Reis-Filho *et al.*, 2019; Moura *et al.*, 2021). Pequenas variações de profundidade, em particular na zona eufótica (até 30 m de profundidade), também podem influenciar as assembleias de peixes recifais (Krajewski & Floeter, 2011; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2011a; Luiz *et al.*, 2015), assim como variações em escalas maiores, como entre as zonas eufótica e mesofótica (31 a 150 m de profundidade), ou mesmo ao longo desta última (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2016; Rosa *et al.*, 2016; Rocha *et al.*, 2018; Andradi-Brown *et al.*, 2021).

Nesse sentido, ilhas oceânicas figuram como verdadeiros laboratórios naturais, onde a combinação de características intrínsecas como elevado isolamento e baixa riqueza de espécies, permite uma melhor compreensão das relações e processos ecológicos (Losos & Ricklefs, 2009). No Brasil, as ilhas e arquipélagos oceânicos apresentam características ambientais distintas, sobretudo o Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo, único de origem e formação não vulcânica (Mohriak, 2020). Esses ambientes únicos apresentam biodiversidade peculiar e elevado endemismo de peixes recifais (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018a). Espécies endêmicas das ilhas oceânicas apresentam elevada vulnerabilidade, devido à baixa variabilidade genética e distribuição geográfica restrita (Feitoza *et al.*, 2003). Tais características tornam as ilhas oceânicas brasileiras áreas prioritárias para a conservação da biodiversidade marinha, reforçando a necessidade de estudos que subsidiem estratégias de manejo adequadas às características de cada ilha.

Todavia, devido à complexidade dos ambientes recifais e às limitações das técnicas de amostragens normalmente utilizadas (*e.g.*, censo visual subaquático e artes de pesca), é difícil analisar de forma compreensível os padrões de distribuição e estrutura das assembleias de peixes (Harvey *et al.*, 2007). A elevada variabilidade nos dados coletados por essas técnicas diminui consideravelmente a capacidade estatística de detecção de alterações nas assembleias estudadas (Harvey *et al.*, 2007). Atualmente, sistemas de filmagens subaquáticas remotas com isca (*Baited Remote Underwater Video*)

Systems - BRUVS) têm sido utilizados com intuito de minimizar esses problemas possibilitando, entre outros, realizar diversas amostragens padronizadas em diferentes habitats bentônicos, como recifes rochosos e carbonáticos, bancos de rodolitos, macroalgas e gramíneas marinhas, e substratos inconsolidados (*e.g.*, Reis-Filho *et al.*, 2019; Pimentel *et al.*, 2020b). Ao mesmo tempo, essa técnica não extrativa também possibilita explorar ambientes mais profundos (*e.g.*, recifes mesofóticos)(Asher *et al.*, 2017; Turner *et al.*, 2017; Andradi-Brown *et al.*, 2021) sem os riscos associados ao mergulho, além de não ter a necessidade de coletar os organismos e, portanto, eliminando a seletividade a pesca (Cappo *et al.*, 2004; Harvey *et al.*, 2007).

Além disso, trabalhos recentes demonstram que ainda podemos avançar muito no conhecimento acerca da biodiversidade de peixes recifais brasileiros (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2015; Pimentel *et al.*, 2019; Guabiroba *et al.*, 2020b; Pimentel *et al.*, 2020). A utilização de novas técnicas de pesquisa como BRUVS, ROVs (veículos operados remotamente) e mergulhos técnicos, tem proporcionado o estudo de habitats ainda pouco explorados, como os bancos de rodolitos e de macroalgas, além dos recifes mesofóticos (*e.g.*, Pimentel *et al.*, 2020b). Tal fato tem gerado a descoberta de novos registros de espécies e de novas espécies para a Província Brasileira (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018a), como demonstrado por Pinheiro *et al.* (2020) explorando recifes rasos e profundos no Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo por meio de técnicas diversas, assim como no caso da espécie *Tosanoides aphrodite* Pinheiro, Rocha & Rocha, 2018, recentemente descoberta nos recifes mesofóticos deste mesmo arquipélago (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018b). Tais descobertas corroboram a necessidade de se aumentar os esforços de pesquisas nesses ambientes pouco estudados, com intuito de ampliarmos o conhecimento acerca da biodiversidade marinha local e regional.

Neste contexto, essa tese elaborada no âmbito do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Oceanografia Ambiental, da Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, tem como objetivos analisar os processos ecológicos responsáveis pela estruturação das assembleias de peixes nas ilhas oceânicas brasileiras, principalmente em relação aos padrões de distribuição das espécies em diferentes habitats e ao longo do gradiente de profundidade da plataforma insular. Além disso, também visa expandir o conhecimento acerca da biodiversidade de peixes recifais da Província Brasileira. Desta forma, a tese está composta por 4 capítulos:

✓ **Capítulo 1** – Pelagic and mesophotic reef fishes of the oceanic Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago (Equatorial Atlantic) suggest linked systems

Neste trabalho, realizado no Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo, focou-se nas variações das assembleias de peixes ao longo do gradiente de profundidade da zona mesofótica (entre 30 e 84 m de profundidade), e na identificação das espécies de peixes que conectam ecologicamente os ecossistemas pelágico e recifal. Este trabalho será submetido à edição especial *Biodiversity of Mesophotic Ecosystems* da revista *Diversity*.

✓ Capítulo 2 – Reef fish habitat use in a remote South Atlantic oceanic island

Na isolada Ilha da Trindade, analisou-se a distribuição das assembleias de peixes para avaliar a resposta de características das espécies relacionadas à conservação (*e.g.*, abundância e biomassa, endemismo e vulnerabilidade), ao uso dos diferentes habitats bentônicos distribuídos ao longo gradiente de profundidade da plataforma insular.

✓ **Capítulo 3** – Pimentel, C. R., Rocha, L. A., Shepherd, B., Phelps, T. A. Y., Joyeux, J.-C., Martins, A. S., ... Pinheiro, H. T. (2020). Mesophotic Ecosystems at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, Brazil (South-Western Atlantic), Reveal Unique Ichthyofauna and Need for Conservation. **Neotropical Ichthyology**, 18, e200050.

Neste trabalho, publicado na *Neotropical Ichthyology* em 2020, foram utilizados mergulho autônomo e mergulho técnico, BRUVS e ROV, para registrar peixes de ambientes rasos (≤ 30 m de profundidade) e mesofóticos (31 a 150 m de profundidade) do Arquipélago de Fernando de Noronha. Os enfatizam a necessidade de proteção e atenção à ictiofauna única encontrada nos ecossistemas profundos.

✓ Capítulo 4 – Pimentel, C. R., Andrades, R., Ferreira, C. E. L., Gadig, O. B. F., Harvey, E. S., Joyeux, J.-C., & Giarrizzo, T. (2020). BRUVS Reveal Locally Extinct Shark and the Way for Shark Monitoring in Brazilian Oceanic Islands. Journal of Fish Biology, 96, 539–542.

Publicado no *Journal of Fish Biology* em 2020, aqui são apresentadas as espécies de tubarões registradas por meio de BRUVS na Ilha da Trindade e no Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo, e ressalta-se a importância da utilização de BRUVS conjuntamente com outros métodos não invasivos para monitorar as populações de tubarões.

Referências Bibliográficas

- Andradi-Brown, D. A., Beer, A. J. E., Colin, L., Hastuti, Head, C. E. I., Hidayat, N. I., ... Ahmadia, G. N. (2021). Highly Diverse Mesophotic Reef Fish Communities in Raja Ampat, West Papua. *Coral Reefs*, 40, 111–130.
- Andradi-Brown, D. A., Macaya-Solis, C., Exton, D. A., Gress, E., Wright, G., & Rogers, A. D. (2016). Assessing Caribbean Shallow and Mesophotic Reef Fish Communities Using Baited-Remote Underwater Video (BRUV) and Diver-Operated Video (DOV) Survey Techniques. *PLoS ONE*, 11, 1–23.
- Asher, J., Williams, I. D., & Harvey, E. S. (2017). Mesophotic Depth Gradients Impact Reef Fish Assemblage Composition and Functional Group Partitioning in the Main Hawaiian Islands. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *4*, 1–18.
- Brandl, S. J., Goatley, C. H. R., Bellwood, D. R., & Tornabene, L. (2018). The Hidden Half: Ecology and Evolution of Cryptobenthic Fishes on Coral Reefs. *Biological Reviews*.
- Cappo, M., Speare, P., & De'Ath, G. (2004). Comparison of Baited Remote Underwater Video Stations (BRUVS) and Prawn (Shrimp) Trawls for Assessments of Fish Biodiversity in Inter-Reefal Areas of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 302, 123–152.
- Feitoza, B. M., Rocha, L. a, Luis-Júnior, O. J., Floeter, S. R., & Gasparini, J. L. (2003). Reef Fishes of St. Paul's Rocks: New Records and Notes on Biology and Zoogeography. Aqua, Journal of Ichthyology and Aquatic Biology, 7, 61–82.
- Floeter, S. R., Rocha, L. A., Robertson, D. R., Joyeux, J. C., Smith-Vaniz, W. F., Wirtz, P., ... Bernardi, G. (2008). Atlantic Reef Fish Biogeography and Evolution. *Journal* of Biogeography, 35, 22–47.
- Guabiroba, H. C., Pimentel, C. R., Mariano Macieira, R., Cardozo-Ferreira, G. C., Teixeira, J. B., Gasparini, J. L., ... Pinheiro, H. T. (2020). New Records of Fishes for the Vitória-Trindade Chain, Southwestern Atlantic. *Check List*, 16, 699–705.
- Harvey, E. S., Cappo, M., Butler, J. J., Hall, N., & Kendrick, G. A. (2007). Bait Attraction Affects the Performance of Remote Underwater Video Stations in Assessment of Demersal Fish Community Structure. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 350, 245– 254.
- Harvey, E. S., Cappo, M., Kendrick, G. A., & McLean, D. L. (2013). Coastal Fish Assemblages Reflect Geological and Oceanographic Gradients within an Australian Zootone. *PLoS ONE*, *8*, 1–17.
- Heyns-Veale, E. R., Bernard, A. T. F., Richoux, N. B., Parker, D., Langlois, T. J., Harvey, E. S., & Götz, A. (2016). Depth and Habitat Determine Assemblage Structure of South Africa's Warm-Temperate Reef Fish. *Marine Biology*, 163.
- Krajewski, J. P., & Floeter, S. R. (2011). Reef Fish Community Structure of the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago (Equatorial Western Atlantic): The Influence of Exposure and Benthic Composition. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 92, 25–40.
- Longo, G. O., Morais, R. A., Martins, C. D. L., Mendes, T. C., Aued, A. W., Cândido, D. V., ... Floeter, S. R. (2015). Between-Habitat Variation of Benthic Cover, Reef Fish Assemblage and Feeding Pressure on the Benthos at the Only Atoll in South

Atlantic: Rocas Atoll, NE Brazil. PLoS ONE, 10.

- Losos, J. B., & Ricklefs, R. E. (2009). Adaptation and Diversification on Islands. *Nature*, 457, 830–836.
- Luiz, O. J., Mendes, T. C., Barneche, D. R., Ferreira, C. G. W., Noguchi, R., Villaça, R. C., ... Ferreira, C. E. L. (2015). Community Structure of Reef Fishes on a Remote Oceanic Island (St Peter and St Paul's Archipelago, Equatorial Atlantic): The Relative Influence of Abiotic and Biotic Variables. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 66, 739–749.
- Mohriak, W. (2020). Genesis and Evolution of the South Atlantic Volcanic Islands Offshore Brazil. *Geo-Marine Letters*, 40, 1–33.
- Moura, R. L., Abieri, M. L., Castro, G. M., Carlos-Júnior, L. A., Chiroque-Solano, P. M., Fernandes, N. C., ... Bastos, A. C. (2021). Tropical Rhodolith Beds Are a Major and Belittled Reef Fish Habitat. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 1–10.
- Pearson, R., & Stevens, T. (2015). Distinct Cross-Shelf Gradient in Mesophotic Reef Fish Assemblages in Subtropical Eastern Australia. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 532, 185–196.
- Pereira, P. H. C. (2017). Benthic Composition Influences Habitat Use and Toxicity of Coral-Dwelling Fishes. *Marine Biology*, *164*, 189.
- Pimentel, C. R., Vilar, C. C., Rolim, F. A., Abieri, M. L., & Joyeux, J. C. (2019). New Records of the Snow Bass Serranus Chionaraia (Perciformes: Serranidae) Confirm an Established Population in the Brazilian Province. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 95, 1346–1349.
- Pimentel, C. R., Rocha, L. A., Shepherd, B., Phelps, T. A. Y., Joyeux, J., Martins, A. S., ... Pinheiro, H. T. (2020). Mesophotic Ecosystems at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, Brazil (South-Western Atlantic), Reveal Unique Ichthyofauna and Need for Conservation. *Neotropical Ichthyology*, 18, e200050.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Rocha, L. A., Macieira, R. M., Carvalho-Filho, A., Anderson, A. B., Bender, M. G., ... Floeter, S. R. (2018a). South-Western Atlantic Reef Fishes: Zoogeographical Patterns and Ecological Drivers Reveal a Secondary Biodiversity Centre in the Atlantic Ocean. *Diversity and Distributions*, 24, 951–965.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Ferreira, C. E. L., Joyeux, J.-C., Santos, R. G., & Horta, P. A. (2011). Reef Fish Structure and Distribution in a South-Western Atlantic Ocean Tropical Island. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 79, 1984–2006.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Mazzei, E., Moura, R. L., Amado-Filho, G. M., Carvalho-Filho, A., Braga, A. C., ... Joyeux, J.-C. (2015). Fish Biodiversity of the Vitória-Trindade Seamount Chain, Southwestern Atlantic: An Updated Database. *PLoS ONE*, 10.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Goodbody-Gringley, G., Jessup, M. E., Shepherd, B., Chequer, A. D., & Rocha, L. A. (2016). Upper and Lower Mesophotic Coral Reef Fish Communities Evaluated by Underwater Visual Censuses in Two Caribbean Locations. *Coral Reefs*, 35, 139–151.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Rocha, C., & Rocha, L. A. (2018b). Tosanoides Aphrodite, a New Species from Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems of St. Paul's Rocks, Mid Atlantic Ridge (Perciformes, Serranidae, Anthiadinae). ZooKeys, 2018, 105–115.

- Pinheiro, H. T., Macena, B. C. L., Francini-Filho, R. B., Ferreira, C. E. L., Albuquerque, F. V., Bezerra, N. P. A., ... Rocha, L. A. (2020). Fish Biodiversity of <scp>Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago</Scp> , <scp>Mid-Atlantic Ridge, Brazil:</Scp> New Records and a Species Database. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 97, 1143–1153.
- Reis-Filho, J. A., Schmid, K., Harvey, E. S., & Giarrizzo, T. (2019a). Coastal Fish Assemblages Reflect Marine Habitat Connectivity and Ontogenetic Shifts in an Estuary-Bay-Continental Shelf Gradient. *Marine Environmental Research*, 148, 57– 66.
- Reis-Filho, J. A., Schmid, K., Harvey, E. S., & Giarrizzo, T. (2019b). Coastal Fish Assemblages Reflect Marine Habitat Connectivity and Ontogenetic Shifts in an Estuary-Bay-Continental Shelf Gradient. *Marine Environmental Research*, 148, 57– 66.
- Rocha, L. A., Pinheiro, H. T., Shepherd, B., Papastamatiou, Y. P., Luiz, O. J., Pyle, R. L., & Bongaerts, P. (2018). Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems Are Threatened and Ecologically Distinct from Shallow Water Reefs. *Science*, *361*.
- Rosa, M. R., Alves, A. C., Medeiros, D. V., Coni, E. O. C., Ferreira, C. M., Ferreira, B. P., ... Francini-Filho, R. B. (2016). Mesophotic Reef Fish Assemblages of the Remote St. Peter and St. Paul's Archipelago, Mid-Atlantic Ridge, Brazil. *Coral Reefs*, 35, 113–123.
- Sale, P. F. (1991). Introduction. In *The Ecology of Fishes on Coral Reefs* (Sale, P. F., ed), pp. 3–15 San Diego: Academic Press, Inc.
- Turner, J. A., Babcock, R. C., Hovey, R., & Kendrick, G. A. (2017). Deep Thinking: A Systematic Review of Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 74, 2309–2320.

Capítulo 1 – Pelagic and mesophotic reef fishes of the oceanic Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago (Equatorial Atlantic) suggest linked systems

Abstract

Due to intrinsic characteristics such as isolation, low species richness and high endemism, oceanic islands are natural laboratories for ecological and evolutionary studies. Here we used Baited Remote Underwater stereo-Video systems (stereo-BRUVS) to investigate the structure of pelagic and mesophotic reef fishes in the small and isolated Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago, equatorial Atlantic Ocean. We focused on the variations of fish assemblages along the mesophotic depth gradient (30 to 84 m depth) and the identification of potential fish species ecologically connecting (i.e., co-occurring species) the pelagic and mesophotic reef ecosystems. We recorded 14 species in the pelagic ecosystem, carnivores being the most diverse and abundant trophic group. On the mesophotic reefs, we recorded 41 taxa. Carnivores and planktivores were the most diverse trophic groups, whereas omnivores were the most abundant. Nine species were recorded in both ecosystems, with Melichthys niger, Caranx lugubris and Seriola rivoliana being the main linking species. The connection between pelagic and reef ecosystems combined with the endangered status of some linking species, suggest the need for an integrated management strategy. Stricter fishing restrictions around the archipelago are suggested as the best alternative to reconcile biodiversity and ecological conservation with sustainable fishing activities.

Keywords: Brazil, conservation, ecosystems linking, mesophotic reef ecosystems, oceanic island.

Introduction

Oceanic islands often figure as natural laboratories for ecological and evolutionary studies (Losos & Ricklefs, 2009). The combination of intrinsic characteristics such as isolation, low species richness and high endemism allow a better understanding of ecological and evolutionary processes and patterns in these model systems (Vitousek, 2002; Pinheiro et al., 2017b). Significant advances in the understanding of biogeographic and evolutionary processes such as colonization and speciation in reef fishes from oceanic islands have occurred in the past few years (Pinheiro et al., 2015, 2017b; Barneche et al., 2019; Quimbayo et al., 2019), placing them as key regions for conservation. Ecological characteristics of oceanic reef fish communities are also being extensively studied, especially their bathymetric distribution and association with benthic habitats and organisms (Pinheiro et al., 2011; Luiz et al., 2015; Ilarri et al., 2017; Maia et al., 2018), in addition to the anthropogenic impacts (e.g., fishing pressure and litter pollution) on the fish assemblages and species conservation measures (Luiz & Edwards, 2011; Rocha et al., 2018; Guabiroba et al., 2020). The study of pelagic fish assemblages is relatively more challenging, mainly due to inherent characteristics of the environment (e.g., large spatial scale) and species (e.g., low overall densities and heterogeneous distributions), which make it complex to sample consistently and accurately (Letessier et al., 2013; Santana-Garcon et al., 2014b; Clarke et al., 2019).

Ecological connectivity between ecosystems driven by animal movements is an important ecological process influencing community structure and productivity, as well as species conservation and ecosystems health (Mcmahon *et al.*, 2012; Graham *et al.*, 2018; Williams *et al.*, 2018). Marine mammals, such as whales and seals, for example, are responsible for nutrient flow from deeper areas to the surface, contributing to local primary productivity (Roman & McCarthy, 2010). Even components from outside of a given ecosystem can influence the input of nutrients to it. For instance, seabirds' faeces can fertilize reefs adjacent to their colonies (Graham *et al.*, 2018). Many studies using different techniques, such as acoustic telemetry and stable isotope analyses, have shown that fish predators are important trophic links, making regular and periodic foraging movement between pelagic and reef ecosystems, and acting directly on nutrient cycling (*e.g.*, Beaudreau & Essington, 2011; Papastamatiou *et al.*, 2015; Williams *et al.*, 2018; Skinner *et al.*, 2019). However, despite understanding some emblematic cases of biotic connectivity and their influence in ecosystems functioning, we still do not know much about the connections between the reef and adjacent pelagic ecosystems. As many fish

The oceanic Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago (SPSPA), in the equatorial Atlantic Ocean, presents great ecological importance, which lies mainly in its high biomass (Morais et al., 2017; Quimbayo et al., 2019) and endemism of reef fishes (down to 150 m), despite the low species richness (Pinheiro et al., 2020). In addition, many pelagic fishes use the SPSPA, including species of commercial interest (*e.g.*, tunas and wahoos) (Vaske Jr. et al., 2008; Viana et al., 2015) and locally or globally threatened with extinction, such as Galapagos sharks (Pimentel et al., 2020) and whale sharks (Hazin et *al.*, 2008), respectively. However, although the shallow reef ichthyofauna (< 30 m depth) is relatively well studied (Lubbock & Edwards, 1981; Feitoza et al., 2003; Vaske et al., 2005; Luiz et al., 2015), the structure of the pelagic fish assemblages immediately adjacent to the reefs has not been properly studied (but see Pinheiro et al., 2020), nor the species that co-occur in these two neighbouring ecosystems, which potentially perform ecological connections. Similarly, the mesophotic reef fish assemblages need to be better studied, since only few projects about its biodiversity (Lubbock & Edwards, 1981) and some ecological aspects (Rosa et al., 2016; Nunes et al., 2019) have been carried out until nowadays.

Therefore, here we used pelagic and benthic Baited Remote Underwater stereo-Video systems (stereo-BRUVS) to investigate the taxonomic and trophic structure of pelagic and mesophotic reef fish assemblages at the small and isolated Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago. Our special interests were to analyse the variation of mesophotic fish assemblages along the depth gradient and to identify the potential fish species that ecologically connect (co-occurring species) pelagic and mesophotic reef ecosystems. The extremely steep local geomorphology promotes a great proximity between pelagic and mesophotic reef ecosystems, which favours studies on their inter-relationships. The conservation issues concerning the observed ecosystem connections are also discussed, aiming to contribute to fisheries management in the region.

Material and Methods

Study area

The remote Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago (SPSPA; Fig. 1) is located on the Mid-Atlantic Ridge, in the equatorial Atlantic Ocean, about 1,010 km from the Northeastern Brazilian coast (00° 55' N; 29° 21' W). This is one of the smallest and most isolated oceanic tropical archipelagos in the world, composed by a small group of islets

and rocks, and totalling an emerged area of *ca.* 15,000 m² and only about 0.5 km² of reefs shallower than 100 m depth (Luiz & Edwards, 2011; Luiz *et al.*, 2015; Rosa *et al.*, 2016). Shallow reefs (\leq 30 depth) are mostly found around a small bay, dominated by rocky reefs covered mainly by the zoanthid *Palythoa caribaeorum*, the fleshy algae *Caulerpa racemosa*, crustose coralline algae, and *Bryopsis spp*. (Magalhães *et al.*, 2015). Down to *ca.* 100 m, the mesophotic reef ecosystem has sharp relief and steep walls, covered by crustose calcareous algae, bryozoans, and scleractinian corals (*e.g. Madracis decactis* and *Scolymia wellsi*) up to around 40 m depth, while sponges and branching black corals (*Tanacetipathes* sp.) dominate deeper zones (Magalhães *et al.*, 2015; Rosa *et al.*, 2016; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2020). The surface South Equatorial Current, flowing westwards, and the Equatorial Undercurrent, flowing eastwards at depths between 40 and 150 m, directly influence the area (Campos *et al.*, 2005; Araujo *et al.*, 2018). The interaction of these currents with the local topography results in a complex hydrodynamic system, which can favour the occurrence of up and downwelling currents, influencing the reef assemblages and attracting many species from the pelagic ecosystem (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2020).

Until recently, this archipelago was part of the multiple-use Marine Protected Area (MPA) of Fernando de Noronha – Rocas – São Pedro and São Paulo Environmental Protected Area (Brasil, 1986). In March 2018, a large MPA including two categories of protected areas was created around the SPSPA: a multiple-use and a no-take area. The no-take area is nested within the multiple-use MPA, while most of the archipelago is part of the latter (see Giglio *et al.*, 2018).



Figure 1: Map of the study area showing A) the location of Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago and other Brazilian oceanic sites in the Atlantic Ocean and B) the pelagic (black circle) and benthic (black triangle) stereo-BRUVS deployment sites.

Sampling procedures

During a two weeks expedition at SPSPA in September 2018, we performed five daytime (8 - 16 h) pelagic baited remote underwater stereo-video system (stereo-BRUVS) deployments *ca.* 20 to 30 m depth, and fourteen benthic stereo-BRUVS deployments between 30 and 84 m depth. Due to strong local currents, both pelagic and benthic stereo-BRUVS were attached to mooring buoys around the Archipelago (Fig. 1). Pelagic deployments were at least 50 m above the reefs. Benthic deployments lasted 60 minutes and were baited with 500 g of crushed false herring *Harengula clupeola* (Cuvier, 1829), while pelagic deployments lasted 120 minutes and were baited with 1,000 g of the same bait.

Video analysis

All fishes were identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level and the relative abundance of each species was recorded as MaxN, *i.e.*, the maximum number of individuals of a same given species present in a single frame (Cappo *et al.*, 2004). During the moment in which MaxN was recorded for each species, we measured the total or fork length of all possible fish, according to the distance (≤ 5 m) and angle ($\leq 45^{\circ}$) to the cameras, as well as the measurement precision (≤ 1 cm). The lengths of two large *Mobula tarapacana* (Philippi, 1892) recorded in the pelagic system were visually estimated.

Data analysis

In order to analyse the trophic structure of the fish assemblages, species were classified into trophic groups as carnivores, mobile invertebrate feeders, sessile invertebrate feeders, planktivores, omnivores, territorial herbivores or roving herbivores (following Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018). Variation in taxonomic and trophic structure of the mesophotic reef fish assemblages along the depth gradient were examined using principal coordinate analysis (PCO), based on Bray-Curtis similarity matrix calculated from square root transformed MaxN data and Spearman's correlation overlaid vectors. Similarity Percentages (SIMPER) one-way analysis was conducted to evaluate the species contributions for the overall assemblage, as well as for the pelagic and mesophotic assemblages. These analyses were run in PRIMER version 6.1.13 and PERMANOVA+ version 1.0.3. The species contributions based on the SIMPER analysis were presented using an Alluvial diagram. For both taxonomic and trophic structures, generalized additive models (GAM) using Gaussian distribution and identity link were performed to analyse the correlation between PCO axes 1 and 2 with depth. Variation with depth in species richness, total relative abundance (TMaxN), and relative abundance (MaxN) of

the six most abundant species and trophic groups were explored using GAMs with Poisson distribution and log link (Guisan *et al.*, 2002). The GAMs were run in the R software using the package mgcv.

Results

Pelagic assemblages

In the pelagic system, we recorded 14 species belonging to eight families (Table S1). The most diverse families were Carangidae and Balistidae with four and three species, respectively. The most abundant species were Elagatis bipinnulata (Quoy & Gaimard, 1825), Melichthys niger (Bloch, 1786), and Caranx crysos (Mitchill, 1815), which together account for over 75% of the total relative abundance. Carnivores was the most diverse trophic group, represented by nine species, followed by planktivores with three species and omnivores with two (Fig. 2; Table S1). Carnivores was also the most abundant trophic group, composed mainly by E. bipinnulata and C. crysos, which accounted for over 60% of the total relative abundance. The carnivores Acanthocybium solandri (Cuvier, 1832), Carcharhinus falciformis (Müller & Henle, 1839), E. bipinnulata, and Thunnus albacares (Bonnaterre, 1788), and the planktivore Mobula tarapacana (Philippi, 1892) were the largest species (TL > 100 cm) recorded. Mediumsized (40 < TL < 101 cm) specimens were represented by the carnivores C. crysos, Caranx lugubris Poey, 1860, Coryphaena hippurus Linnaeus, 1758, E. bipinnulata, Seriola rivoliana Valenciennes, 1833 and Sphyraena barracuda (Edwards, 1771), and the planktivores Canthidermis maculata (Bloch, 1786) and Canthidermis sufflamen (Mitchill, 1815). The smallest species (TL \leq 40 cm) were small-bodied C. crysos, C. lugubris, C. maculata, C. sufflamen and S. rivoliana, as well as the highly abundant omnivore M. niger.



Figure 2: Intraspecific relative abundance percentage (%MaxN) by length class and trophic group of the pelagic fish assemblage of SPSPA. Aca sol: *Acanthocybium solandri*; Can mac: *Canthidermis maculata*; Can suf: *Canthidermis sufflamen*; Car cry: *Caranx crysos*; Car lug: *Caranx lugubris*; Car fal: *Carcharhinus falciformis*; Cor hip: *Coryphaena hippurus*; Ela bip: *Elagatis bipinnulata*; Mel nig: *Melichthys niger*; Mob tar: *Mobula tarapacana*; Ser riv: *Seriola rivoliana*; Thu alb: *Thunnus albacares*.

Mesophotic reef assemblages

On the mesophotic reef system, we recorded 41 taxa belonging to 19 families (Table S2). Kyphosus sp. and Enchelycore cf. nycturanus Smith, 2002, could not be identified to the species level. The most diverse families were Muraenidae (five taxa), Balistidae, Carangidae, and Pomacentridae (four species each). The most abundant species were M. *niger* with 808 individuals (mean \pm standard deviation: 57.7 \pm 23.6 individuals), Azurina *multilineata* (Guichenot, 1853) with 209 individuals (14.9 ± 17.9) , Chromis vanbebberae McFarland, Baldwin, Robertson, Rocha & Tornabene 2020 with 123 individuals (8.8 \pm 16.0), S. rivoliana with 90 individuals (6.4 \pm 12.1), C. lugubris with 85 individuals (6.1 \pm 8.7) and Stegastes sanctipauli Lubbock & Edwards, 1981 with 53 individuals (3.8 \pm 5.6). We also recorded two sharks, one Carcharhinus galapagensis (Snodgrass & Heller, 1905) and one C. falciformis (Pimentel et al., 2020). Carnivores (8 families and 16 species) and planktivores (6 families and 7 species) were the most diverse trophic groups. Omnivores, represented mainly by *M. niger*, was the most abundant trophic group on the mesophotic reefs, accounting for ca. 50% of the total fish abundance. Planktivores and carnivores represented about 21% and 18%, respectively. All other trophic groups represented less than 5% of the total abundance each.

The PCOs did not reveal a fish assemblage structured taxonomically or trophically by depth (Fig. 3A and B). This lack of taxonomic and trophic structure by depth were corroborated by GAMs, which did not show a significant relationship between the axes of the PCOs and depth (Table S3 and Table S4). The PCO1 axis of the taxonomic structure (Fig. 3A) evidenced two groups of deployments not related to depth differences. However, one group of deployments (on the left) was associated with species considered of shallow affinities (i.e., species relatively more abundant in the shallows) such as Abudefduf saxatilis (Linnaeus, 1758), A. multilineata, S. sanctipauli and Halichoeres radiatus (Linnaeus, 1758). The other group (on the right) was correlated to demersal mesophotic specialists (*i.e.*, species relatively more abundant in the mesophotic reefs) such as C. vanbebberae and Prognathodes obliquus (Lubbock & Edwards, 1980), along with the benthopelagic species S. rivoliana and C. lugubris, besides B. capriscus and Cantherhines macrocerus (Hollard, 1853). The PCO2 axis separated the sample with greater abundance of *Kyphosus* spp. (above) from the others, which presented low or no individuals of this species. In the PCO based on the trophic structure (Fig. 3B), the first axis separated a sample (on the right) dominated by roving herbivores (*i.e.*, Kyphosus spp.) from others. The second axis partially separated samples associated with carnivores and mobile invertebrate feeders (below) from those associated with planktivores and sessile invertebrate feeders (in the middle), and those associated with omnivores and territorial herbivores (above). Therefore, none of the PCOs presented a sample ordination according to the depth.



Figure 3: Principal coordinate analysis plots based on the relative abundance of A) species and B) trophic groups of the mesophotic assemblages. Species with Spearmen correlations > 0.65 and the trophic groups are overlaid with its respective vectors. White numbers indicate the depth gradient. CAR: carnivores; MINV: mobile invertebrate feeders; OMNI: omnivores; PLANK: planktivores; ROVH: roving herbivores; SINV: sessile invertebrate feeders; THER: territorial herbivores.

In contrast, species richness and TMaxN varied significantly with depth, as well as MaxN of the most abundant species, except *C. vanbebberae* (Fig. 4). Species richness and especially TMaxN showed a more evident increase along the depth gradient, whereas *S. rivoliana*, *C. lugubris* and *S. sanctipauli* did not show such an obvious pattern. *Azurina multilineata* presented a bimodal depth distribution, with higher MaxN occurring in the shallower and deeper zones. The distribution of trophic groups also showed significant variation with depth (Fig. 5). Carnivores, both mobile and sessile invertebrate feeders and, to a lesser extent, territorial herbivores, increased in abundance along the mesophotic depth gradient. Planktivores showed an evident bimodal depth distribution, while omnivores did not show a clear pattern of bathymetric distribution.



Figure 4: Relationship between species richness, total relative abundance (TMaxN) and relative abundance (MaxN) of the six most abundant species and depth according to the generalized additive models. 95 % confidence limits are shown in gray. *** p < 0.001.



Figure 5: Relationship between relative abundance (MaxN) of the trophic groups and depth according to the generalized additive models. 95 % confidence limits are shown in gray. *** p < 0.001.

Ecosystems connections

Overall, 46 taxa were recorded in the SPSPA (Fig. 6). Nine fish species from six families were recorded in both systems, contributing 40.1% for the overall assemblage similarity (SIMPER analysis; Table S5). These same nine linking species contributed 33.8% for the pelagic and 34.4% for the mesophotic assemblages' similarities (Fig. 6). *Melichthys niger, C. lugubris* and *S. rivoliana* presented the greatest individual contributions for the overall assemblage, with 19.4%, 9.4% and 6.6%, respectively (SIMPER analysis; Table S5).



Figure 6: Alluvial plot based on the relative abundance percentage of the species, showing the contribution of linking species to pelagic and mesophotic reef fish assemblages, as well as the contribution of the other species to their respective assemblages.
Discussion

This study reinforces that BRUVS are adequate to provide fast and robust estimates of abundance, diversity and size structure of fish assemblages at remote and isolated oceanic islands, in addition to increasing our understanding about ecological connectivity between pelagic and reef ecosystems. Information that is crucial for managers and researchers to detect fish assemblage changes in response to multiple threats, such as overfishing and climate change (Chin *et al.*, 2010; Dulvy *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, our data revealed that although ichthyofauna is independently structured in pelagic and mesophotic reef systems, there is evidence of taxonomic and functional links in an ecological perspective, which can support local and regional conservation efforts.

Pelagic assemblages

This is one of the few fishery-independent ecological assessments of the pelagic fish assemblages in the southwestern Atlantic, which also explores the ecological connections between pelagic and mesophotic reef ecosystems (Papastamatiou *et al.*, 2015; Williams *et al.*, 2018; Madigan *et al.*, 2020). The study of pelagic fish assemblages presents challenges for accurate data collection and interpretation, partly due to the extensive area and the heterogeneous way in which the species are distributed in the environment (Letessier *et al.*, 2013, 2015; Santana-Garcon *et al.*, 2014c). In this sense, BRUVS is standing out as an efficient technique to study pelagic assemblages, presenting relatively fast deployment time, enabling many replications, and covering a large area, combined with a high capacity to record predators (Pimentel *et al.*, 2020). Since several pelagic species are elusive meso (*e.g.*, barracudas, tunas and wahoos) and large predators (*e.g.*, sharks), BRUVS are well suited to conduct surveys in marine protected areas as a non-extractive technique (Letessier *et al.*, 2013, 2015; Santana-Garcon *et al.*, 2014c).

Despite a relatively limited sampling effort, our BRUVS recorded about 25% of pelagic fish species known from the SPSPA, including some new records (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2020). Although researchers have investigated pelagic fishes in the SPSPA, their studies focused mainly on the trophic ecology of fisheries resources (*e.g.*, Vaske-Júnior *et al.*, 2003, 2006; Albuquerque *et al.*, 2019), where the assemblage structure was characterized through analyses of commercial fishing data (*e.g.*, Vaske Jr. *et al.*, 2008; Viana *et al.*, 2015). Fishery-dependent data is usually biased due to gear catchability and size-selectivity (Harvey *et al.*, 2012; Santana-Garcon *et al.*, 2014a). In SPSPA, for instance, previous studies based on commercial fishing data showed that mesopredators (*e.g.*, tunas and wahoos) dominate the pelagic assemblage (Vaske Jr. *et al.*, 2008; Viana *et al.*, 2015),

whereas our study disclosed a greater variety of trophic levels. In addition, due to the establishment of a large MPA around SPSPA, even if most of it is of multiple-use (Giglio *et al.*, 2018), fishing must be regulated, or allowed only for scientific purposes. Another point of concern is that a number of species targeted by fisheries show signs of overfishing and even hints of local extinction (Vaske Jr. *et al.*, 2008; Luiz & Edwards, 2011; Viana *et al.*, 2015).

In this context, despite the ban on longline fishing around the SPSPA since 2012 (SECIRM, 2012), the low species richness and abundance of sharks, as well as of *T. albacares* and *A. solandri*, is noteworthy. At least 10 species of pelagic sharks have been recorded for the SPSPA, not to mention *C. galapagensis*, which was considered very abundant few decades ago (Luiz & Edwards, 2011), but extremely rare nowadays (Pimentel *et al.*, 2020; Pinheiro et al., 2020). In turn, *T. albacares* and *A. solandri* are the main species caught by the commercial fishery in the SPSPA (Vaske Jr. *et al.*, 2008; Viana *et al.*, 2015), but the former is globally overfished and near endangered (Collette *et al.*, 2011). These results reinforce the importance of the ban on longline fishing in the SPSPA protection zone to restore local shark populations and other top predators, and achieve the conservation goals pursued by the creation of the MPA in this archipelago.

Mesophotic reef assemblages

The SPSPA reef fish fauna has been considered one of the poorest globally, due to the remoteness and small size of the archipelago (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2020). However, differently from previous studies on the fish assemblage structure of shallow and mesophotic reefs of the SPSPA (Luiz *et al.*, 2015; Rosa *et al.*, 2016), our study recorded a greater diversity of species (~20% and 53%, respectively), including new records (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2020). Such differences in the composition and structure of the fish assemblages among the studies could be related to the use of different sampling techniques and effort. Luiz *et al.* (2015) performed underwater visual censuses (UVCs), conducting 213 belt transects between 0 and 30 m depth, Rosa *et al.* (2016) analysed 230 minutes of footage acquired by remotely operated vehicle (ROV) between 30 and 90 m depth, while we used 840 minutes of BRUVS footage between 30 and 84 m depth. While UVCs and ROV can cause avoidance behaviour in some fish species, varying according to the size, intensity of noise and light emitted by the equipment and divers, BRUVS attracts carnivores and a great variety of fishes (*e.g.*, planktivores and omnivores), including rare and endangered species (Schramm *et al.*, 2020a, 2020b). Therefore, BRUVS are well suited and necessary

Unexpectedly, we did not find fish assemblages clearly structured according to the depth gradient, as shown in Rosa et al. (2016) in the same archipelago and in other mesophotic reef ecosystems elsewhere (Pearson & Stevens, 2015; Pinheiro et al., 2016; Asher et al., 2017b, 2017a; Bond et al., 2018). However, the structure we found was greatly driven by species with shallow and mesophotic affinities. Strong up and down-welling events were recorded between 50 and 100 m, switching drastically the temperature in a matter of minutes, and influencing the movement of fishes along the reef wall (H. T. Pinheiro and L. A. Rocha, pers. comm.). Such occasional oceanographic processes increase connectivity between shallow and mesophotic reef habitats, in addition to providing nutrients and rich plankton to local fish and benthic assemblages (Gove *et al.*, 2016). Mesophotic specialists possibly take advantage of cold ascendant currents that occur in the region (Travassos et al., 1999) to briefly rise up and use some shallower resources not common in deeper reefs, such as turf and crustose calcareous algae, and scleractinian corals (Rosa et al., 2016). According to Nunes et al. (2019), P. obliquus has a bathymetric distribution coincident with the temperature stratification, showing greatest abundances in deep (> 60 m) and cold (14-18 $^{\circ}$ C) waters, but with regular sightings at 40 m depth. Similarly, C. vanbebberae is also a mesophotic species associated with cold waters that can occur at depths of up to 10 m (McFarland et al., 2020) under the right temperature conditions. Quick variation in temperature has also been observed in mesophotic reefs of Hawaii (Kahng et al., 2019), and could drive the ephemeral occurrence of both assemblages at the same depth range. As shallow reefs are limited in the SPSPA (less than 0.5 km² of reefs < 50 m deep), competition for space and resources (*e.g.*, territory, food, shelter) could be intense, influencing the depth expansion of shallow affinity species, such as S. sanctipauli, to mesophotic reefs.

Ecosystems connections

The high number of linking species (*i.e.*, co-occurring) between pelagic and mesophotic reefs (~40% of the overall assemblages' similarity; Fig. 6) support the ecological connectivity between these ecosystems. Differently from previous studies that showed fish predators as important links between coral reefs and the pelagic environment (Papastamatiou *et al.*, 2015; Clarke *et al.*, 2019), our study showed that main linking species are omnivores. The abundant *M. niger* is considered a functional herbivore in the SPSPA, which play an important role by transferring nutrients from the benthic primary

production to higher trophic levels (Mendes et al., 2019), through daily migrations among pelagic and reef systems. The enrichment of the pelagic ecosystem by nutrients from M. niger faeces could contribute to the primary productivity, in a similar process to the "whale pump", in which marine mammals that feed at great depths release faecal plumes near the surface, enhancing local primary productivity (Roman & McCarthy, 2010). On the other hand, *M. niger* also feeds on zooplankton in the pelagic system (Randall, 1967; Mendes et al., 2019), thus possibly transferring pelagic nutrients back to the reefs, by providing extra fertilization for the primary producers or by serving as prey. In fact, pelagic subsidies can make a substantial contribution to reef fish productivity (Morais & Bellwood, 2019), which would contribute to the high reef fish abundance and biomass found in the SPSPA despite its small area (Morais et al., 2017; Quimbayo et al., 2019). Some large and high mobile predators also perform constant migrations between pelagic and reef ecosystems, thus influencing the energy flux and dynamics in both systems (Williams et al., 2018; Skinner et al., 2019). However, due to the current low abundance of large predators recorded in the SPSPA, this important trophic link may have been replaced by mesopredators that are still abundant in the region. For instance, in SPSPA, C. lugubris feeds mainly on pelagic prey (e.g., small crustaceans and flyingfish), as well as reef fish such as Myripristis jacobus Cuvier, 1829, A. multilineata and A. saxatilis (Pinheiro et al., 2017). Similarly, carangid species such as C. crysos and S. rivoliana, which are common in the SPSPA, have a diet based mainly on pelagic fish, but can also prey on a wide variety of demersal/reef fishes such as labrids, serranids, sparids, mullids and even gobies (Randall, 1967; Barreiros et al., 2003; Sley et al., 2009). Even exclusive pelagic species also opportunistically prey on fish and other reef organisms in SPSPA, including resident reef predators (Vaske-Júnior et al., 2003, 2006; Albuquerque et al., 2019). Therefore, our data hint at important ecosystem connections occurring through different species and trophic pathways (i.e., herbivory, planktivory, piscivory). Even sustaining a low diversity reef fish assemblage, the ecological connectivity between the pelagic and reef ecosystems is a critical process, which probably help to sustain the high biomass and productive reef assemblages, even surrounded by oceanic poor waters.

The ecological connections between pelagic and mesophotic reef ecosystems inferred here based on species co-occurrences, as well as the endangered status of species found in both environments, suggest the need for an integrated management strategy. The very large MPA created in 2018, which included a no-take zone that encompasses only a tiny fraction of the SPSPA, need to be continually re-evaluated to verify if it is effectively conserving reef biodiversity, as well as the pelagic fish assemblages and the important trophic connections they play. This research shows the importance of protecting not only the fragile and unique reef ecosystem, but also the pelagic environment around the SPSPA. Stricter fishing restrictions around the archipelago are suggested as the best alternative for biodiversity conservation and maintenance of critical ecological processes, thus helping system resilience.

References

- Albuquerque, F. V., Navia, A. F., Vaske, T., Crespo, O., & Hazin, F. H. V. (2019). Trophic Ecology of Large Pelagic Fish in the Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago, Brazil. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 70, 1402–1418.
- Araujo, M., Tchamabi, C. C., Silva, M., Bourlès, B., Araujo, J., & Noriega, C. (2018).
 Propriedades Físicas e Biogeoquímicas Da Região Oceânica Circundante Ao
 Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo. In *Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo :*20 anos de pesquisa (Oliveira, J. E. L., Viana, D. de L., Marco, Souza, A. C. de, eds), pp. 248–262 Recife: Design Publicações.
- Asher, J., Williams, I. D., & Harvey, E. S. (2017a). An Assessment of Mobile Predator Populations along Shallow and Mesophotic Depth Gradients in the Hawaiian Archipelago. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 1–18.
- Asher, J., Williams, I. D., & Harvey, E. S. (2017b). Mesophotic Depth Gradients Impact Reef Fish Assemblage Composition and Functional Group Partitioning in the Main Hawaiian Islands. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 4, 1–18.
- Barneche, D. R., Rezende, E. L., Parravicini, V., Maire, E., Edgar, G. J., Stuart-Smith, R.
 D., ... Floeter, S. R. (2019). Body Size, Reef Area and Temperature Predict Global Reef-Fish Species Richness across Spatial Scales. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 28, 315–327.
- Barreiros, J. P., Morato, T., Santos, R. S., & de Borba, A. E. (2003). Interannual Changes in the Diet of the Almaco Jack, Seriola Riviloana (Perciformes: Carangidae) from the Azores. *Cybium*, 27, 37–40.
- Beaudreau, A. H., & Essington, T. E. (2011). Use of Pelagic Prey Subsidies by Demersal Predators in Rocky Reefs: Insight from Movement Patterns of Lingcod. *Marine Biology*, 158, 471–483.
- Bond, T., Partridge, J. C., Taylor, M. D., Cooper, T. F., & McLean, D. L. (2018). The Influence of Depth and a Subsea Pipeline on Fish Assemblages and Commercially Fished Species. *PLoS ONE*, 13, e0207703.

- Brasil. Decreto no 92.755, de 5 de junho de 1986. Diário Oficial da União, Poder Executivo, Brasília, DF, 6 jun. 1986. Available at: http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/decreto/1980-1989/1985-1987/D92755.htm
- Campos, T. F. da C., Neto, J. das V., Srivastava, N. K., Hartmann, L. A., Moraes, J. F. S. de, Mendes, L., & Silveira, S. R. M. (2005). Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo Soerguimento Tectônico de Rochas Infracrustais No Oceano Atlântico. In *Sítios Geológicos e Paleontológicos do Brasil* (Winge, M., Schobbenhaus, C., Berbert-Born, M., Queiroz, E. T., Campos, D. A., Souza, C. R. G., Fernandes, A. C. S., eds), pp. 1–12.
- Cappo, M., Speare, P., & De'Ath, G. (2004). Comparison of Baited Remote Underwater Video Stations (BRUVS) and Prawn (Shrimp) Trawls for Assessments of Fish Biodiversity in Inter-Reefal Areas of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. *Journal* of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 302, 123–152.
- Chin, A., Kyne, P. M., Walker, T. I., & McAauley, R. B. (2010). An integrated risk assessment for climate change: analysing the vulnerability of sharks and rays on Australia's Great Barrier Reef. *Global Change Biology*, *16*, 1936–1953.
- Clarke, T. M., Whitmarsh, S. K., Fairweather, P. G., & Huveneers, C. (2019). Overlap in Fish Assemblages Observed Using Pelagic and Benthic Baited Remote Underwater Video Stations. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 70, 870.
- Collette, B. B., Acer, A., Amorim, A. F., Boustany, A., Canales-Ramirez, C., Cardenas, G., ... Yanez, E. (2011). *Thunnus Albacares, Yellowfinn Tuna*. Vol. e.T21857A9.
- Dulvy, N. K., Fowler, S. L., Musick, J. A., Cavanagh, R. D., Kyne, P. M., Harrison, L. R., ... White, W. T. (2014) Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays. *Elife*, *3*, e00590.
- Feitoza, B. M., Rocha, L. a, Luis-Júnior, O. J., Floeter, S. R., & Gasparini, J. L. (2003). Reef Fishes of St. Paul's Rocks: New Records and Notes on Biology and Zoogeography. *Aqua, Journal of Ichthyology and Aquatic Biology*, 7, 61–82.
- Giglio, V. J., Pinheiro, H. T., Bender, M. G., Bonaldo, R. M., Costa-Lotufo, L. V., Ferreira, C. E. L., ... Francini-Filho, R. B. (2018). Large and Remote Marine Protected Areas in the South Atlantic Ocean Are Flawed and Raise Concerns: Comments on Soares and Lucas (2018). *Marine Policy*, 96, 13–17.
- Graham, N. A. J., Wilson, S. K., Carr, P., Hoey, A. S., Jennings, S., & MacNeil, M. A. (2018). Seabirds Enhance Coral Reef Productivity and Functioning in the Absence of Invasive Rats. *Nature*, 559, 250–253.

- Gove, J. M., McManus, M. A., Neuheimer, A. B., Polovina, J. J., Drazen, J. C., Smith, C. R., ... Williams, G. J. (2016). Near-Island Biological Hotspots in Barren Ocean Basins. *Nature Communications*, 7, 10581.
- Guabiroba, H. C., Santos, M. E. A., Pinheiro, H. T., Simon, T., Pimentel, C. R., Vilar, C.
 C., & Joyeux, J.-C. (2020). Trends in Recreational Fisheries and Reef Fish
 Community Structure Indicate Decline in Target Species Population in an Isolated
 Tropical Oceanic Island. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 191, 105194.
- Guisan, A., Edwards, T. C., & Hastie, T. (2002). Generalized Linear and Generalized Additive Models in Studies of Species Distributions: Setting the Scene. *Ecological Modelling*, 157, 89–100.
- Harvey, E. S., Newman, S. J., McLean, D. L., Cappo, M., Meeuwig, J. J., & Skepper, C. L. (2012). Comparison of the Relative Efficiencies of Stereo-BRUVs and Traps for Sampling Tropical Continental Shelf Demersal Fishes. *Fisheries Research*, 125– 126, 108–120.
- Hazin, F. H. V., Vaske, T., Oliveira, P. G., Macena, B. C. L., & Carvalho, F. (2008).
 Occurrences of Whale Shark (*Rhincodon typus* Smith, 1828) in the Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago, Brazil. *Brazilian Journal of Biology*, 68, 385–389.
- Ilarri, M. I., Souza, A. T., & Rosa, R. S. (2017). Community Structure of Reef Fishes in Shallow Waters of the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago: Effects of Different Levels of Environmental Protection. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 68, 1303– 1316.
- Kahng, S. E., Akkaynak, D., Shlesinger, T., Hochberg, E. J., Wiedenmann, J., Tamir, R., & Tchernov, D. (2019). Light, Temperature, Photosynthesis, Heterotrophy, and the Lower Depth Limits of Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems. In *Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems* pp. 801–828.
- Letessier, T. B., Meeuwig, J. J., Gollock, M., Groves, L., Bouchet, P. J., Chapuis, L., ... Koldewey, H. J. (2013). Assessing Pelagic Fish Populations: The Application of Demersal Video Techniques to the Mid-Water Environment. *Methods in Oceanography*, 8, 41–55.
- Letessier, T. B., Bouchet, P. J., & Meeuwig, J. J. (2015). Sampling Mobile Oceanic Fishes and Sharks: Implications for Fisheries and Conservation Planning. *Biological Reviews*, 92, 627–646.
- Losos, J. B., & Ricklefs, R. E. (2009). Adaptation and Diversification on Islands. *Nature*, 457, 830–836.

- Lubbock, R., & Edwards, A. (1981). The Fishes of Saint Paul's Rocks. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 18, 135–157.
- Luiz, O. J., & Edwards, A. J. (2011). Extinction of a Shark Population in the Archipelago of Saint Paul's Rocks (Equatorial Atlantic) Inferred from the Historical Record. *Biological Conservation*, 144, 2873–2881.
- Luiz, O. J., Mendes, T. C., Barneche, D. R., Ferreira, C. G. W., Noguchi, R., Villaça, R.
 C., ... Ferreira, C. E. L. (2015). Community Structure of Reef Fishes on a Remote
 Oceanic Island (St Peter and St Paul's Archipelago, Equatorial Atlantic): The
 Relative Influence of Abiotic and Biotic Variables. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 66, 739–749.
- Madigan, D. J., Richardson, A. J., Carlisle, A. B., Weber, S. B., Brown, J., & Hussey, N.
 E. (2020). Water Column Structure Defines Vertical Habitat of Twelve Pelagic Predators in the South Atlantic. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*.
- Magalhães, G. M., Amado-Filho, G. M., Rosa, M. R., De Moura, R. L., Brasileiro, P. S., De Moraes, F. C., ... Pereira-Filho, G. H. (2015). Changes in Benthic Communities along a 0-60 m Depth Gradient in the Remote St. Peter and St. Paul Archipelago (Mid-Atlantic Ridge, Brazil). *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 91, 377–396.
- Maia, H. A., Morais, R. A., Quimbayo, J. P., Dias, M. S., Sampaio, C. L. S., Horta, P. A.,
 ... Floeter, S. R. (2018). Spatial Patterns and Drivers of Fish and Benthic Reef
 Communities at São Tomé Island, Tropical Eastern Atlantic. *Marine Ecology*, 39, 1–16.
- McFarland, E. P., Baldwin, C. C., Robertson, D. R., Rocha, L. A., & Tornabene, L. (2020). A New Species of Chromis Damselfish from the Tropical Western Atlantic (Teleostei, Pomacentridae). *ZooKeys*, 1008, 107–138.
- Mcmahon, K. W., Berumen, M. L., & Thorrold, S. R. (2012). Linking Habitat Mosaics and Connectivity in a Coral Reef Seascape. *PNAS*, *18*, 15372–15376.
- Mendes, T. C., Quimbayo, J. P., Bouth, H. F., Silva, L. P. S., & Ferreira, C. E. L. (2019).
 The Omnivorous Triggerfish Melichthys Niger Is a Functional Herbivore on an Isolated Atlantic Oceanic Island. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 95, 812–819.
- Morais, R. A., & Bellwood, D. R. (2019). Pelagic Subsidies Underpin Fish Productivity on a Degraded Coral Reef. *Current Biology*, 29, 1521-1527.e6.
- Morais, R. A., Ferreira, C. E. L., & Floeter, S. R. (2017). Spatial Patterns of Fish Standing Biomass across Brazilian Reefs. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *91*, 1642–1667.
- Nunes, L. T., Cord, I., Francini-Filho, R. B., Stampar, S. N., Pinheiro, H. T., Rocha, L.

A., ... Ferreira, C. E. L. (2019). Ecology of Prognathodes Obliquus, a Butterflyfish Endemic to Mesophotic Ecosystems of St. Peter and St. Paul's Archipelago. *Coral Reefs*, *38*, 955–960.

- Papastamatiou, Y. P., Meyer, C. G., Kosaki, R. K., Wallsgrove, N. J., & Popp, B. N. (2015). Movements and Foraging of Predators Associated with Mesophotic Coral Reefs and Their Potential for Linking Ecological Habitats. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 521, 155–170.
- Pearson, R., & Stevens, T. (2015). Distinct Cross-Shelf Gradient in Mesophotic Reef Fish Assemblages in Subtropical Eastern Australia. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 532, 185–196.
- Pimentel, C. R., Andrades, R., Ferreira, C. E. L., Gadig, O. B. F., Harvey, E. S., Joyeux, J., & Giarrizzo, T. (2020). BRUVS Reveal Locally Extinct Shark and the Way for Shark Monitoring in Brazilian Oceanic Islands. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 96, 539– 542.
- Pinheiro, E., Layman, C. A., Castello, J. P., & Leite, T. S. (2017a). Trophic Role of Demersal Mesopredators on Rocky Reefs in an Equatorial Atlantic Ocean Island. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 33, 47–53.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Rocha, L. A., Macieira, R. M., Carvalho-Filho, A., Anderson, A. B.,
 Bender, M. G., ... Floeter, S. R. (2018). South-Western Atlantic Reef Fishes:
 Zoogeographical Patterns and Ecological Drivers Reveal a Secondary Biodiversity
 Centre in the Atlantic Ocean. *Diversity and Distributions*, 24, 951–965.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Mazzei, E., Moura, R. L., Amado-Filho, G. M., Carvalho-Filho, A., Braga, A. C., ... Joyeux, J. C. (2015). Fish Biodiversity of the Vitória-Trindade Seamount Chain, Southwestern Atlantic: An Updated Database. *PLoS ONE*, 10, 1– 38.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Goodbody-Gringley, G., Jessup, M. E., Shepherd, B., Chequer, A. D., & Rocha, L. A. (2016). Upper and Lower Mesophotic Coral Reef Fish Communities Evaluated by Underwater Visual Censuses in Two Caribbean Locations. *Coral Reefs*, 35, 139–151.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Bernardi, G., Simon, T., Joyeux, J.-C., Macieira, R. M., Gasparini, J. L., ... Rocha, L. A. (2017b). Island Biogeography of Marine Organisms. *Nature*, 549, 82–85.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Macena, B. C. L., Francini-Filho, R. B., Ferreira, C. E. L., Albuquerque,F. V., Bezerra, N. P. A., ... Rocha, L. A. (2020). Fish Biodiversity of Saint Peter

and Saint Paul's Archipelago, Mid-Atlantic Ridge, Brazil: New Records and a Species Database. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 97, 1143–1153.

- Pinheiro, H. T., Ferreira, C. E. L., Joyeux, J., & Santos, R. G. (2011). Reef Fish Structure and Distribution in a South-Western. 1984–2006.
- Quimbayo, J. P., Dias, M. S., Kulbicki, M., Mendes, T. C., Lamb, R. W., Johnson, A. F., ... Floeter, S. R. (2019). Determinants of Reef Fish Assemblages in Tropical Oceanic Islands. *Ecography*, 42, 77–87.
- Randall, J. E. (1967). Food Habits of Reef Fishes of the West Indies. *Stud. Trop. Oceanogr.*, *5*, 665–847.
- Rocha, L. A., Pinheiro, H. T., Shepherd, B., Papastamatiou, Y. P., Luiz, O. J., Pyle, R.
 L., & Bongaerts, P. (2018). Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems Are Threatened and Ecologically Distinct from Shallow Water Reefs. *Science*, *361*, 281–284.
- Roman, J., & McCarthy, J. J. (2010). The Whale Pump: Marine Mammals Enhance Primary Productivity in a Coastal Basin. *PLoS ONE*, 5, e13255.
- Rosa, M. R., Alves, A. C., Medeiros, D. V., Coni, E. O. C., Ferreira, C. M., Ferreira, B.
 P., ... Francini-Filho, R. B. (2016). Mesophotic Reef Fish Assemblages of the Remote St. Peter and St. Paul's Archipelago, Mid-Atlantic Ridge, Brazil. *Coral Reefs*, 35, 113–123.
- Santana-Garcon, J., Braccini, M., Langlois, T. J., Newman, S. J., Mcauley, R. B., & Harvey, E. S. (2014a). Calibration of Pelagic Stereo-BRUVs and Scientific Longline Surveys for Sampling Sharks. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5, 824– 833.
- Santana-Garcon, J., Newman, S. J., & Harvey, E. S. (2014b). Development and Validation of a Mid-Water Baited Stereo-Video Technique for Investigating Pelagic Fish Assemblages. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 452, 82–90.
- Santana-Garcon, J., Newman, S. J., Langlois, T. J., & Harvey, E. S. (2014c). Effects of a Spatial Closure on Highly Mobile Fish Species: An Assessment Using Pelagic Stereo-BRUVs. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 460, 153– 161.
- Schramm, K. D., Marnane, M. J., Elsdon, T. S., Jones, C., Saunders, B. J., Goetze, J. S., ... Harvey, E. S. (2020a). A Comparison of Stereo-BRUVs and Stereo-ROV Techniques for Sampling Shallow Water Fish Communities on and off Pipelines. *Marine Environmental Research*, 162, 105198.

- Schramm, K. D., Harvey, E. S., Goetze, J. S., Travers, M. J., Warnock, B., & Saunders, B. J. (2020b). A Comparison of Stereo-BRUV, Diver Operated and Remote Stereo-Video Transects for Assessing Reef Fish Assemblages. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 524, 151273.
- Secretaria da Comissão Interministerial para os Recursos do Mar (SECIRM). (2012). Proposta para ordenamento de atividade pesqueira. Marinha do Brasil, Brasília, DF.
- Skinner, C., Newman, S. P., Mill, A. C., Newton, J., & Polunin, N. V. C. (2019). Prevalence of Pelagic Dependence among Coral Reef Predators across an Atoll Seascape. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 88, 1564–1574.
- Sley, A., Jarboui, O., Ghorbel, M., & Bouain, A. (2009). Food and Feeding Habits of Caranx Crysos from the Gulf of Gabs (Tunisia). *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 89, 1375–1380.
- Travassos, P., Hazin, F. H. V., Zagaglia, J. R., Advíncula, R., & Schober, J. (1999). Thermohaline Structure around Seamounts and Islands off North-Eastern Brazil. Archive of Fishery and Marine Research, 47, 211–222.
- Vaske-Júnior, T., Vooren, C. M., & Lessa, R. P. (2003). Feeding strategy of yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*), and wahoo (*Acanthocybium solandri*) in the Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago, Brazil. *Boletim do Instituto de Pesca*, 29, 173–181.
- Vaske-Júnior, T., Hazin, F. H. V., & Lessa, R. P. (2006). Fishery and Feeding Habits of the Rainbow Runner, *Elagatis bipinnulata* (Quoy & Gaimard, 1825) (Pisces:Carangidae), in the Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago, Brazil. *Arquivos de Ciências do Mar*, 39, 61–65.
- Vaske Jr., T., Lessa, R. P. T., Ribeiro, A. B. C., Nóbrega, M. F. de, Pereira, A. de A., & Andrade, C. D. P. de. (2008). A Pesca Comercial de Peixes Pelágicos No Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo, Brasil. *Tropical Oceanography*, 36, 47–54.
- Vaske, T., Lessa, R. P., de Nóbrega, M., Montealegre-Quijano, S., Marcante Santana, F.,
 & Bezerra, J. L. (2005). A Checklist of Fishes from Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago, Brazil. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 21, 75–79.
- Viana, D. F., Vieira Hazin, F. H., Andrade, H. A., Nunes, D. M., & de Viana, D. L. (2015).
 Fisheries in the Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago: 13 Years of Monitoring. *Boletim do Instituto de Pesca*, 41, 239–248.
- Vitousek, P. M. (2002). Oceanic Islands as Model Systems for Ecological Studies. Journal of Biogeography, 29, 573–582.
- Williams, J. J., Papastamatiou, Y. P., Caselle, J. E., Bradley, D., & Jacoby, D. M. P.

(2018). Mobile Marine Predators: An Understudied Source of Nutrients to Coral Reefs in an Unfished Atoll. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 285.

Acknowledgements

We thank Guilherme O. Longo and his students, and Thayná J. Mello and Larissa Benevides for their help during the scientific expedition. We are very grateful to the entire crew of RV Alpha, who helped us with the heavy fieldwork. We also thank the Brazilian Navy and SECIRM for the fundamental logistic support. This study was funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (http://dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100003593) through the scientific programs LTER (PELDILOC grant 441241/2016-6 and PELD-HCES grant 441243/2016-9; the latter with additional funding from Fundação Estadual de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Espírito (http://dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100006182) Santo and PROTRINDADE (grant 405426/2012-7). CRP also thanks Fundação Estadual de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Espírito Santo (http://dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100006182) for the PhD scholarship and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (http://dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100002322) finance code 001, for the PDSE fellowship. This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior-Brasil (CAPES) - finance code 001.

Supporting information

Table S1: Pelagic fish assemblage of the Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago. Families are in phylogenetic order according to Nelson *et al.* (2016). Trophic groups are following Pinheiro *et al.* (2018). Relative abundance (MaxN) and mean (MMaxN; \pm standard deviation) relative abundance of the fish species.

Family / Species	Trophic group	MaxN	MMaxN
Carcharhinidae			
Carcharhinus falciformis	Carnivores	4	0.8 ± 1.1
Myliobatidae			
Mobula tarapacana	Planktivores	2	0.4 ± 0.9
Coryphaenidae			
Coryphaena hippurus	Carnivores	1	0.2 ± 0.5
Carangidae			
Caranx crysos	Carnivores	87	17.4 ± 32.4
Caranx lugubris	Carnivores	9	1.8 ± 4.0
Elagatis bipinnulata	Carnivores	153	30.6 ± 34.9
Seriola rivoliana	Carnivores	12	2.4 ± 3.9
Sphyraenidae			
Sphyraena barracuda	Carnivores	4	0.8 ± 1.3
Scombridae			
Acanthocybium solandri	Carnivores	10	2.0 ± 1.2
Thunnus albacares	Carnivores	2	0.4 ± 0.9
Balistidae			
Canthidermis maculata	Planktivores	35	7.0 ± 12.5
Canthidermis sufflamen	Planktivores	27	5.4 ± 7.9
Melichthys niger	Omnivores	100	20.0 ± 44.7
Monacanthidae			
Aluterus monoceros	Omnivores	1	0.2 ± 0.5

Table S2: Mesophotic reef fish assemblage of the Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago. Families are in phylogenetic order according to Nelson *et al.* (2016). Trophic groups are following Pinheiro *et al.* (2018). Relative abundance (MaxN) and mean (MMaxN; \pm standard deviation) relative abundance of the fish species.

Family / Species	Trophic group	MaxN	MMaxN
Carcharhinidae			
Carcharhinus falciformis	Carnivores	1	0.07 ± 0.27
Carcharhinus galapagensis	Carnivores	1	0.07 ± 0.27
Myliobatidae			
Nobula tarapacana	Planktivores	21	1.50 ± 5.06
Muraenidae			
Enchelycore nigricans	Carnivores	18	1.29 ± 1.07
Enchelycore aff. nycturanus	Carnivores	8	0.57 ± 0.85
Gymnothorax funebris	Carnivores	8	0.57 ± 0.85
Muraena melanotis	Carnivores	9	0.64 ± 0.63
Muraena pavonina	Carnivores	28	2.00 ± 1.04
Holocentridae			
Holocentrus adscensionis	Mobile invertebrate feeders	4	0.29 ± 0.61
Myripristis jacobus	Planktivores	1	0.07 ± 0.27
Pomacentridae			
Chromis vanbebberae	Planktivores	123	8.79 ± 16.00
Azurina multilineata	Planktivores	209	14.93 ± 17.90
Abudefduf saxatilis	Omnivores	26	1.86 ± 3.23
Stegastes sanctipauli	Territorial herbivores	53	3.79 ± 5.63
Carangidae			
Caranx crysos	Carnivores	38	2.71 ± 10.20
Carangoides bartholomaei	Carnivores	4	0.29 ± 0.61
Caranx lugubris	Carnivores	85	6.07 + 8.68
Seriola rivoliana	Carnivores	90	6.43 + 12.10
Snhvraenidae		20	0.10 _ 12.10
Sphyraena barracuda	Carnivores	2	0.14 ± 0.36
Aulostomidae	Carmitores	-	0.11 = 0.50
Aulostomus strigosus	Carnivores	10	0.71 ± 0.73
Dactylonteridae		10	0111 = 0110
Dactylopterus volitans	Mobile invertebrate feeders	1	0.07 ± 0.27
Labridae		1	0.07 ± 0.27
Bodianus insularis	Mobile invertebrate feeders	18	1.29 ± 0.91
Clenticus brasiliensis	Planktivores	1	0.07 ± 0.27
Halichoeres radiatus	Mobile invertebrate feeders	22	1.57 ± 1.02
Kynhosidae	Wioblie invertebrate recters	22	1.57 ± 1.02
Kyphosus sp	Roving herbivores	17	1 21 + 3 29
Eninenhelidae	nothig hereitores	1,	1.21 _ 3.27
Cenhalopholis fulva	Carnivores	2	0.14 ± 0.36
Serranidae	Cumvores	2	0.11 ± 0.50
Choranthias salmonunctatus	Planktivores	7	0.50 ± 1.09
Rynticus sanonaceus	Carnivores	12	0.86 ± 0.77
Chaetodontidae	Cumvores	12	0.00 ± 0.11
Chaetodon striatus	Sessile invertebrate feeders	Δ	0.29 ± 0.61
Prognathodes obliguus	Sessile invertebrate feeders	- 27	0.29 ± 0.01 1.93 + 2.09
Pomacanthidae	Sessile invertebrate recuers	27	1.93 ± 2.09
Holacanthus ciliaris	Sessile invertebrate feeders	29	2.07 ± 1.64
Pomacanthus paru	Sessile invertebrate feeders	2)	0.14 ± 0.36
Lutianidae	Sessile invertebrate recuers	2	0.17 ± 0.30
Lutianus iocu	Carnivores	2	0.14 + 0.36
	Carminorob	-	0.11 - 0.00

Balistidae			
Balistes capriscus	Mobile invertebrate feeders	27	1.93 ± 1.73
Canthidermis sufflamen	Planktivores	14	1.00 ± 2.04
Melichthys niger	Omnivores	808	57.71 ± 23.60
Xanthichthys ringens	Mobile invertebrate feeders	1	0.07 ± 0.27
Monacanthidae			
Aluterus monoceros	Omnivores	8	0.57 ± 2.14
Aluterus scriptus	Omnivores	8	0.57 ± 0.65
Cantherhines macrocerus	Omnivores	24	1.71 ± 0.83
Diodontidae			
Diodon hystrix	Sessile invertebrate feeders	1	0.07 ± 0.27

Table S3: Generalized additive model results showing the correlations between the PCO axis 1 and 2 with depth, for the taxonomic structure (species MaxN) of the mesophotic reef fish assemblage.

PCO1	Estimate	SE	t value	Р
Intercept	0.03462	4.50094	0.008	0.994
Depth	1.763	2.181	2.49	0.127
PCO2	Estimate	SE	t value	Р
Intercept	0.2975	4.0296	0.074	0.942
Depth	1	1	1.137	0.307

Table S1: Generalized additive model results showing the correlations between the PCO axis 1 and 2 with depth, for the trophic structure (trophic group MaxN) of the mesophotic reef fish assemblage.

PCO1	Estimate	SE	t value	Р
Intercept	5.31*10 ⁻¹²	3202	0	1
Depth	1.269	1.487	0.734	0.372
PCO2	Estimate	SE	t value	Р
Intercept	8.429*10 ⁻⁰⁹	2404	0	1
Depth	1.903	2.353	1.004	0.509

Table S5: Results of the Similarity Percentage (SIMPER) analysis showing the species contributions (70% cumulative) for the pelagic, mesophotic reef and overall fish assemblages of the Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago.

Species	Average Abundance	Average Similarity	Similarity standard deviation	Contribution (%)	Cumulative contribution (%)
Pela	gic assemblage	(Average sin	nilarity: 41.	64)	
Elagatis bipinnulata	1.99	15.41	2.54	37.00	37.00
Acanthocybium solandri	1.00	8.84	1.11	21.24	58.24
Caranx crysos	1.37	6.77	1.12	16.25	74.49
Mesopho	otic reef assemb	lage (Averag	ge similarity	: 58.35)	
Melichthys niger	2.71	11.28	4.93	19.34	19.34
Caranx lugubris	1.42	5.42	4.82	9.29	28.63
Muraena pavonina	1.11	4.02	2.25	6.88	35.51
Cantherhines macrocerus	1.07	3.89	2.31	6.67	42.18
Chromis multilineata	1.41	3.60	0.96	6.18	48.36
Holacanthus ciliaris	1.03	3.31	1.54	5.68	54.04
Halichoeres radiatus	0.98	3.17	1.54	5.44	59.48
Seriola rivoliana	1.10	2.82	0.93	4.84	64.32
Bodianus insularis	0.88	2.71	1.20	4.65	68.97
Balistes capriscus	0.89	2.27	0.95	3.90	72.87
Ove	rall assemblage	(Average sir	nilarity: 37.	24)	
Melichthys niger	2.17	7.21	1.18	19.36	19.36
Caranx lugubris	1.14	3.49	1.18	9.37	28.73
Seriola rivoliana	0.97	2.44	0.74	6.56	35.29
Muraena pavonina	0.82	2.14	0.89	5.74	41.03
Cantherhines macrocerus	0.79	2.07	0.90	5.56	46.59
Chromis multilineata	1.04	1.92	0.58	5.15	51.74
Holacanthus ciliaris	0.76	1.76	0.77	4.74	56.48
Halichoeres radiatus	0.72	1.69	0.77	4.54	61.02
Bodianus insularis	0.65	1.44	0.68	3.88	64.89
Balistes capriscus	0.66	1.21	0.58	3.25	68.14
Enchelycore nigricans	0.60	1.18	0.59	3.17	71.32

Capítulo 2 – Fish assemblages habitat distribution in a remote South Atlantic oceanic island

Abstract

Reef fish habitat use is highly associated with their environmental needs, and understanding fish-habitat associations is essential for efficient fisheries management and conservation of biodiversity. Depth is an important driver for reef fish assemblages, closely related to other environmental features including water temperature, hydrodynamics, light at bottom, benthic cover, and habitat type. Here, we analysed the fish assemblages distribution at Trindade Island to assess the response of conservationrelated species traits (e.g., biomass, endemism and species vulnerability) to habitat type and depth gradient. Using baited remote underwater stereo-video systems, we assessed reef fish over multiple habitats between 10 and 74 m deep. Multivariate analysis and data modelling reveal that fish assemblages at Trindade Island are structured according to the variation of benthic habitats across the depth gradient of the insular shelf. While species richness, total abundance and endemism were highly related towards reef habitats, total biomass and average vulnerability were more positively associated to increased depth. Therefore, an integrated management approach addressing the insular shelf gradient of benthic habitats is essential in order to guarantee the conservation of marine biodiversity and the ecological functions intrinsic to each habitat.

Keywords: BRUVS, conservation, depth gradient, endemism, reef fish, vulnerability.

Introduction

Understanding the distribution patterns of fish assemblages in relation to the environmental characteristics is essential for the conservation of biodiversity and an efficient fisheries management (Reis-Filho et al., 2019a). The habitat type is an important structuring driver for fish assemblages, with more complex habitats often harbouring higher species richness and abundance than less complex ones (Gratwicke & Speight, 2005). However, far beyond this direct relationship with structural complexity, fish habitat use is highly associated with their environmental needs, especially in relation to feeding and growth, predation risk offset, competition mitigation, and reproductive necessities (Eggertsen et al., 2017; Reis-Filho et al., 2019a). Reef fishes may depend on many different essential habitats (e.g., mangroves, rhodolith beds, tidepools) according to their life stages, whether as foraging, spawning or nursery grounds (Cocheret de la Morinière et al., 2002; Papastamatiou et al., 2015). As habitat requirements change, species may need to perform foraging movements (e.g., Beaudreau & Essington, 2011; Williams et al., 2018), spawning migrations (e.g., Feeley et al., 2018; Bezerra et al., 2021), or ontogenetic habitat shifts (Oliveira et al., 2016; Reis-Filho et al., 2019a), thus connecting habitats on different temporal and spatial scales.

Depth is also an important reef fish community driver (Asher *et al.*, 2017; Zintzen *et al.*, 2017), since it is closely related to many environmental characteristics including water temperature (Asher *et al.*, 2017), hydrodynamics (Maia *et al.*, 2018), light at bottom (Moura *et al.*, 2021), as well as benthic cover (Rosa *et al.*, 2016), and habitat type (Bond *et al.*, 2018). Change in habitat type along the depth gradient is a common feature of continental or insular shelves (Pimentel *et al.*, 2020; Moura *et al.*, 2021), which can strongly influence the fish assemblage structure (Cappo *et al.*, 2011; Bond *et al.*, 2018). However, co-variation lowers the distinctiveness between the influences that each factor exerts on the assemblages. Nevertheless, understanding complex species distribution over multiple benthic habitats across the depth gradient is crucial for marine biodiversity conservation. The integration of marine reserves into connected networks encompassing all habitats and a broad depth range has been proved to be more efficient to preserve higher abundance and biomass of fished species, as they experience relatively stronger fishing pressure in shallow water and the larger fish are usually at greater depths (Goetze *et al.*, 2021).

The farthest oceanic island off the Brazilian coast, Trindade Island, harbours a relatively high reef fish richness (194 species) and endemism rate (9.6%) compared to other south

Atlantic oceanic localities, being considered a hotspot of biodiversity (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2015; Guabiroba *et al.*, 2020b). Trindade Island also supports one of the greatest biomass of reef fishes of the Brazilian coast, and the highest among Brazilian oceanic islands (Morais *et al.*, 2017). While any of these characteristics would make the island a high priority for conservation, it was only in 2018 that a marine protected area (MPA) was established in the region. However, the establishment process and geographic delineation have suffered heavy criticism from the scientific community (Giglio *et al.*, 2018; Vilar *et al.*, 2020). While the concerns from the scientific community remain unanswered, one needs to admit that no fishing management strategy regulated fishing activities in the region prior to MPA creation. Lack of rules adapted to the remoteness, isolation and singularity of assemblages resulted in overfishing and a severe decrease in the populations of many species, including nurse and reef sharks, yellowfin grouper, rock hind grouper, coney, and black jack (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2010a; Guabiroba *et al.*, 2020a).

A number of studies have brought up our knowledge of the biodiversity (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2010b; Simon *et al.*, 2013; Smith-Vaniz *et al.*, 2018; Guabiroba *et al.*, 2020b) and distribution patterns (Pereira-Filho *et al.*, 2011; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2011) of reef and shallow fish assemblages of Trindade Island. Other habitats and depths remain knowledge-deficient and assemblage connectivity patterns remain fully unknown. Therefore, we analysed the structure and distribution of fish assemblages over the mosaic of benthic habitats of the Trindade Island insular shelf to assess the response of conservation-related species traits (*e.g.*, biomass, endemism and species vulnerability) to habitat type and depth gradient, in order to collaborate with a successful marine conservation and fishery management.

Material and Methods

Study area

Volcanic Trindade Island (20°30' S, 29°20' W) is located about 1140 km off the southeastern Brazilian coast (Fig. 1), at the east end of the Vitória-Trindade Chain, Southwestern Atlantic. Together with the Martin Vaz Archipelago, located 47 km east of Trindade Island, they constitute the youngest (younger than 1 Ma) and the easternmost oceanic islands in Brazil (Hasen *et al.*, 1998; Mohriak, 2020). Currently, Trindade Island has an emerged area of approximately 9.3 km², with extremely rugged and mostly unvegetated relief, whereas the shallow insular shelf (down to *ca.* 50 m depth) was estimated to be 32 km² (Gasparini & Floeter, 2001). A mosaic of benthic habitats typifies the insular shelf seascape, including carbonate and rocky reefs, rhodolith and macroalgae beds, and sandy bottoms. The fringing carbonate reefs can be extremely complex, with interconnected holes and crevices, or completely flat, showing almost no structural complexity. Volcanic boulders compose the rocky reefs, adding high structural complexity to the seascape of the shallow insular shelf. These reef habitats are interspersed by sand, rhodolith and macroalgae beds, which are most common below 30 m. In relation to environmental conservation, two large Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) were recently (March 2018) created around Trindade Island and Martin Vaz Archipelago, a larger multiple-use area, and a relatively smaller and supposedly no-take area. However, surprisingly, most part of the island was excluded even from the multiple-use MPA, leaving only a tiny part as a no-take area (Giglio *et al.*, 2018; Vilar *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 1: Location of Trindade Island at the eastern end of the Vitória-Trindade Chain, Southwestern Atlantic. Gray triangles, black squares, blue diamonds and red circles indicate the position of the BRUVS deployments according to the dominant benthic habitat: macroalgae (n = 3), reef (n = 22), sand (n = 21), and rhodolith (n = 14). Gray lines indicate isobaths. The No-take and Multiple-use areas are shown in pink and green, respectively.

Sampling procedures

During a expedition in November 2017, 60 daytime (8 - 16 h) deployments of benthic baited remote underwater stereo-video systems (hereafter BRUVS) were realized around the island, 30 on each island side (*i.e.* leeward - southwest and windward - northeast), distributed from 10 to 74 m depth. The depth gradient was defined based on arbitrary depth zones, being shallow (< 30 m), middle (30 to 50 m) and deep (> 50 m). The BRUVS were baited with 500 g of crushed Brazilian sardine *Sardinella brasiliensis* (Steindachner, 1879), and arranged at least 500 m apart from each other to avoid overlapping bait plumes. Each deployment lasted 60 minutes (Whitmarsh *et al.*, 2017).

Video analysis

Fishes were identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level and the relative abundance of each species was recorded as MaxN, *i.e.* the maximum number of individuals of the same species present in a single frame (Cappo *et al.*, 2004). In the MaxN frame of each species, we measured the total or fork length of all fish, according to their distance (≤ 5 m) and angle ($\leq 45^{\circ}$) to the cameras. We also pre-established the measurement precision ≤ 1 cm as a necessary requirement. The criteria for measuring fishes were entered and verified by the software used to analyze the videos (EventMeasure). The proportion of each benthic habitat (*i.e.*, reef, rhodolith, sand and macroalgae) was assessed through the seabed image of the samples. The seabed images were divided into a 5 x 4 grid and, for each grid square, the dominant benthic habitat (*i.e.*, the one with greatest coverage) was recorded. The total grid squares that each habitat was dominant represented its proportion in the sample.

Data analysis

Fish biomass was estimated through the allometric length–weight relationship of each species, using the parameters presented by FishBase (Froese & Pauly, 2021). When the species parameters were not available, were used parameters of congeneric morphologically similar species. Species were classified into trophic groups as carnivores, mobile invertebrate feeders, sessile invertebrate feeders, planktivores, omnivores and herbivores (following Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018). To analyse species vulnerability, the FishBase vulnerability index was used (Froese & Pauly, 2021). This intrinsic vulnerability index is based on life history and ecological characteristics (*e.g.*, length, maturity, longevity, mortality, fecundity, and geographic range), and is expressed on a scale ranging from 1 to 100, with 100 being the most vulnerable (Cheung *et al.*, 2005). A principal coordinate analysis (PCO) was used to construct an unconstrained

ordination of the samples, based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix, calculated from the fourth root-transformed relative abundance (MaxN) dataset. A Spearman correlation of 0.6 was used to display potential relationships between fish species and the axes of PCO (Clarke & Gorley, 2006). A RELATE test, based on the Spearman correlation, was used to verify the correlation between relative abundance and relative biomass similarity matrices (Rho = 0.923) (Clarke & Gorley, 2006). Therefore, relative abundance data of fish assemblages were used in the multivariate statistical analyses. These analyses were run in PRIMER 6.1.13 with PERMANOVA+ 1.0.3 (Clarke & Gorley, 2006). To analyse the association of species with benthic habitats along the depth gradient, a shade plot was produced by clustering the samples on the x-axis, based on Bray–Curtis similarity, and the 15 most important species on the y-axis, based on Whittaker's index of association (Clarke & Gorley, 2015). To detect significantly different sample clusters and to identify fish species groups with habitat/depth gradient partitioning, we used the similarity profile test (SIMPROF). All analyses were run in PRIMER 7 with PERMANOVA (Clarke & Gorley, 2015).

Overall and between benthic habitats beta diversity was calculated with the Sorensen dissimilarity index, using the betapart package in R (Baselga & Orme, 2012; Baselga *et al.*, 2013). Generalized additive models (GAM) were performed to analyse the relationships between the PCOs' axes with the depth gradient and the proportion of each benthic habitat (*i.e.*, reef, rhodolith and sand). Macroalgae proportion was not tested due to its low representativeness in samples. Gaussian distribution and identity link were used in the GAMs, through the mgcv package in R (Wood, 2011, 2012). Generalised additive models were also used to test for relationships between explanatory variables (*i.e.*, depth, and proportion of reef, rhodolith, and sand) and untransformed species richness, total abundance and biomass, biomass of trophic groups, average vulnerability, and richness and abundance of endemic species. Poisson distribution and log link were used with the mgcv package (Wood, 2011, 2012). Models were selected according to Akaike Information Criterion (AICc) values, and the percentage of explained variance was used as secondary criterion. The dredge function was used for the model selection procedure, using MuMIn package in R (Bartón, 2014; Kamil, 2016).

Results

A total of 4,832 individuals were recorded belonging to 79 taxa from 35 families (Supporting Information Table S1). Seventy-two species were identified, while five taxa remain at the genus level, and one at the family level. The well-known hybrid of

Cephalopholis fulva (Linnaeus, 1758) with *Paranthias furcifer* (Valenciennes, 1828) (Bostrom *et al.*, 2002) was counted as one taxa of its own. *Aluterus monoceros* (Linnaeus 1758) was recorded for the first time at Trindade Island (Guabiroba *et al.*, 2020b). The most diverse families were Labridae, Epinephelidae and Carangidae with 11, 7 and 6 taxa each, respectively. The most abundant taxa were *Melichthys niger* (Bloch, 1786), representing 58.2% of total MaxN, *Kyphosus* spp. with 4.8%, *P. furcifer* with 4.5%, and *C. fulva* with 4.2%. Five elasmobranch species were also recorded, one individual of *Aetobatus narinari* (Euphrasen, 1790), 18 of *Carcharhinus perezi* (Poey, 1876), four of *Galeocerdo cuvier* (Péron & Lesueur, 1822), two of *Ginglymostoma cirratum* (Bonnaterre, 1788), and five of *Sphyrna lewini* (Griffith & Smith, 1834).

The richest (mean S \pm standard error: 19.2 \pm 1.1) and most abundant (mean MaxN \pm standard error: 121.4 ± 6.1) benthic habitat was the reef environment, followed by rhodolith beds (S: 11.8 ± 0.9 ; MaxN: 91.4 ± 15.4), macroalgae beds (S: 9.7 ± 2.4 ; MaxN: 41.7 \pm 21.0), and sandy bottoms (S: 6.1 \pm 0.6; MaxN: 36.1 \pm 6.2) (Fig. 2). Reef habitat also showed the most exclusive ichthyofauna, with almost 30% of the taxa (n = 24)occurring only in this habitat (Supporting Information Table S1). In turn, five species (6%) were exclusive of rhodolith beds, three (4%) of sandy bottoms, and other three of macroalgae beds. On the other hand, only nine species were recorded in all benthic habitats, and 17 species in three habitats. Concerning the depth gradient, species richness, and relative abundance were considerably higher in the shallow zone (S: 17.5 ± 1.2 ; MaxN: 118.8 \pm 5.4; n = 24) than in the middle (S: 9.8 \pm 1.1; MaxN: 57.6 \pm 7.1; n = 21) and deep zones (S: 7.3 ± 1.2 ; MaxN: 46.6 ± 18.3 ; n = 15). Nineteen species were recorded only in the shallow zone, eight were exclusive of the middle zone, and no species was exclusively detected in the deep zone. Most fish was unspecialized toward particular depth (within the range explored), since 26 species were widely distributed throughout the bathymetric range.



Figure 2: Mean (\pm standard error) species richness (S) and relative abundance (MaxN) of the fish assemblages recorded on the different benthic habitats and depth zones (shallow: < 30 m; middle: 30 to 50 m; > 50 m deep). Black vertical and horizontal bars indicate standard error.

The overall variation in assemblage composition was very high (beta diversity = 0.95). The highest compositional variation was detected between reef and macroalgae beds, and between reef and sand bottoms (Table 1). The lowest values were recorded between reef and rhodolith beds, and sand bottoms and macroalgae beds.

with the Sorensen dissimilarity index.					
Benthic habitat	Reef	Rhodolith	Sand		
Rhodolith	0.66 (± 0.10)				
Sand	0.82 (± 0.13)	$0.70 (\pm 0.17)$			
Macroalgae	0.85 (± 0.12)	0.74 (± 0.15)	$0.67~(\pm 0.18)$		

Table 1: Mean beta diversity (\pm standard deviation) among benthic habitats calculated with the Sorensen dissimilarity index.

The variation on the fish assemblages among benthic habitats through the depth gradient is clearly evidenced in the PCO (Fig. 3). The first axis explained 38.3% of total variation, and mainly opposed reefs against sand bottoms. The second axis explained 16.1% of total variation, and segregated rhodolith beds from reef and sand bottoms. Macroalgae beds were poorly evidenced but appear to share some characteristics with sand bottoms. Most species (10) showed high correlation (> 0.6) with reefs, while only *M. plumieri* was highly associated to rhodolith beds, and *Xyrichtys* spp. to sandy bottoms (Fig. 3). Generalized additive models resulted in significant relationships between both PCO axes with depth and reef proportion, as well as between the proportion of rhodolith and sand with PCO1 and PCO2 axes, respectively (Supporting information Table S2 and Fig. S1). These significant relationships corroborated that fish assemblages are structured according to the benthic habitats through the depth gradient.



Figure 3: Principal coordinate analysis plot based on the relative abundance (MaxN) of the fish assemblages. Numbers arranged within the figure on the left indicate the depth gradient, and symbols the sampled benthic habitats. Vectors on the right indicate the species with Spearman correlation > 0.60 with the axes of PCO. Photos of *Bodianus rufus* and *Holacanthus tricolor* by Raphael Macieira, and photos of *Halichoeres brasiliensis*, *Thalassoma noronhanum*, and *Sparisoma axillare* by Luiz Rocha.

The shade plot with the cluster analyses identified five groups of benthic habitats/depth zones (top clusters) associated to three groups (left clusters) of fish taxa (Fig. 4). Reef and rhodolith habitats formed distinct groups regardless of depth zone. Sandy bottoms and macroalgae beds were distributed among three groups of benthic habitats, with deep macroalgae beds singled out. Regarding the fish species-habitat association, *Kyphosus* spp., *Sparisoma amplum* (Ranzani, 1841), *Thalassoma noronhanum* (Boulenger, 1890), *C. fulva, M. niger* and *Seriola rivoliana* Valenciennes, 1833, formed a group more

associated with reef habitat. A second group composed by *P. furcifer* and *Holocentrus* adscensionis (Osbeck, 1765), mostly small individuals, was related to rhodolith beds, especially the deepest ones. The third significant group was formed by seven species, some of them with great affinity for unconsolidated substrates, such as *Pseudupeneus* maculatus (Bloch, 1793) and Xyrichtis spp., and other species more associated with macroalgae beds, such as *Sphoeroides spengleri* (Bloch, 1785), *Aluterus scriptus* (Osbeck, 1765), and *Bothus* sp.. Species with greater mobility such as *Fistularia petimba* Lacepède, 1803 and *Caranx crysos* (Mitchill, 1815) also composed this group.



Figure 4: Shade plot showing the association of fish species (left clusters) with the benthic habitats/depth zones (top clusters). The colour gradient from black (strong correlation) to white (no correlation) indicates the strength of species-habitat/depth association. The dashed red lines indicate the significant groups according to the SIMPROF test.

The selected models (Supporting information Table S3) for species richness, total abundance and biomass contrasted reef and rhodolith beds from sand bottoms (Fig. 5 A-D, F), albeit details differed among dependent variables. Total biomass also varied with depth (Fig. 5 E) in a response strongly linked to carnivores biomass (Fig. 6 A). The AICcselected model also included reef proportion as a predictor variable for carnivores distribution (Supporting information Table S3), but GAM was not performed with both predictor variables because there were fewer unique covariate combinations than specified maximum degrees of freedom. Omnivores biomass only varied in proportion of sand, but results interpretation is neither straightforward nor intuitive (Fig. 6 B). The biomass of mobile invertebrate feeders and planktivores decreased with depth but bottom nature (i.e., sand proportion) did not influence planktivores (Fig. 6 C-E). For herbivores and sessile invertebrate feeders, GAMs were not run because there were fewer unique covariate combinations than specified maximum degrees of freedom. The average vulnerability showed a positive relationship with depth (Fig. 7 A), following the pattern of carnivores. The richness and abundance of endemic species are strongly related to the proportion of reef. However, some endemic species (e.g., wrasses and parrotfish) also use other benthic habitats, such as rhodolith and macroalgae beds, mainly as juveniles. Sandy bottoms, on the other hand, had a negative relationship with the richness of endemic species.



Figure 5: Relationships between richness (A and B), total abundance (TMaxN; C and D) and total biomass (TBiomass; E and F) with the depth gradient and the proportion of benthic habitats obtained by the selected generalized additive models. The coloured areas represent 95% confidence interval. All models are significant (p < 0.05).



Figure 6: Relationships between the biomass (kg) of trophic groups with the depth gradient and the proportion of benthic habitats obtained by the selected generalized additive models. The coloured areas represent 95% confidence interval. All models presented are significant (p < 0.05).



Figure 7: Relationships between the average vulnerability (A), abundance (MaxN; B) and richness (C and D) of endemic species with the depth gradient and the proportion of benthic habitats obtained by the selected generalized additive models. The coloured areas represent 95% confidence interval. All models presented are significant (p < 0.05).

Discussion

Depth gradient and benthic habitats are the most important environmental drivers in the structuring of marine fish assemblages (Reis-Filho *et al.*, 2019a; Moura *et al.*, 2021). The influence of these drivers on the structure of the assemblages is common knowledge and has been reported on several spatial scales. Fish can respond even to small depth variations within the euphotic zone (Krajewski & Floeter, 2011; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2011; Luiz *et al.*, 2015), passing through intermediate variations, such as from the euphotic to the mesophotic zone and within the latter (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2016; Rosa *et al.*, 2016; Rocha *et al.*, 2018; Andradi-Brown *et al.*, 2021), to large-scale variations from the mesophotic to aphotic zone (Semmler *et al.*, 2017; Zintzen *et al.*, 2017). Likewise, fish can exhibit microhabitat partitioning (Pereira, 2017; Brandl *et al.*, 2013; Longo *et al.*, 2015; Reis-Filho *et al.*, 2021). Often the influence of depth and habitat on fish assemblages occurs simultaneously, since habitat variation across the depth gradient is a common characteristic of marine ecosystems (*e.g.*, Pereira-Filho *et al.*, 2011; Pinnentel *et al.*, 2020; Moura *et al.*, 2021).

Here we demonstrate how the fish assemblages at Trindade Island are structured according to the benthic habitats variation along the depth gradient of the insular shelf. Differences in the fish assemblages between types of shallow fringing reefs (*i.e.*, volcanic rocky and coralline algae reefs) (Pinheiro et al., 2011) and other species-habitat associations (Gasparini & Floeter, 2001) have been shown, but not the association of fish species with benthic habitats through the euphotic-mesophotic depth gradient (but see Pereira-Filho et al., 2011; Meirelles et al., 2015). The structural complexity of the benthic habitat is one of the strongest and most consistent predictors of composition and structure of fish assemblages (Gratwicke & Speight, 2005; Darling et al., 2017). This factor seems to be driving the taxonomic structure of Trindade fish assemblages (see Fig. 3 and 4). The coralline algae reefs can exhibit relatively high structural complexity, forming a labyrinth of crevices and holes, while the rocky reefs are made of large volcanic boulders (Pinheiro et al., 2011). In turn, rhodolith beds provide much greater structural complexity than sand bottoms (Holz et al., 2020), due to the small crevices and holes between and within the calcareous nodules, while the complexity is low in sand bottoms, despite ripple marks and distinct texture due to varying grain size, nature and density.

Assessing fish assemblages in shallow reefs and rhodolith beds across the Abrolhos Shelf, on the east coast of Brazil, Moura et al. (2021) stated that the variation in the fish assemblages' composition at seascape level was also associated to the habitat structure, as well as to the amount of light reaching the bottom. According to the same authors, light at bottom integrates depth and turbidity in a single ecological variable, whose effects over reef fishes seems to be indirectly associated with trophic (e.g., grazing and predation) and non-trophic (e.g., shelter) interactions with the benthos. Similarly, benthic habitats and depth also influenced the composition and structure of the fish assemblages on the insular shelf of Trindade Island. However, since benthic habitats do not have a continuous distribution across the entire depth gradient, with reefs occurring predominantly in the shallow zone (< 30 m depth) and other habitats mainly in middle (30 to 50 m) and deep zones (> 50 m), depth is considered an intrinsic characteristic of habitats, acting in synergy with them on the distribution of the fish assemblages. In this sense, Reis-Filho et al. (2019) considered the range in temperature and salinity as components of the respective habitats, when analysing the distribution of fish assemblages along an ecosystem gradient.

Understanding the patterns of association and distribution of fish assemblages with habitats is essential for the management of natural resources in an ecosystem approach, especially in relation to the conservation of biodiversity (e.g., species richness and endemic species) and fishery resources (e.g., endangered and target species) (Reis-Filho et al., 2019a). In this context, our results demonstrate that the insular shelf of Trindade Island comprises a mosaic of interconnected benthic habitats, which differ widely in terms of fish species richness, abundance, and biomass (Fig. 5), as well as in biomass of trophic groups (Fig. 6). The high beta diversity values (*i.e.*, dissimilarity), both overall and among benthic habitats, also support taxonomically distinct fish assemblages, which associated with the trophic structure differences, may indicate functionally distinct habitats (Moura et al., 2021). In a conservation context, an integrated management approach that addresses all this diversity of habitats is essential, in order to guarantee the conservation of the biodiversity, as well as the ecological functions intrinsic to each habitat. Thus, there is an urgent need to reconfigure the recently created MPAs around the Trindade Island, which fail even to protect the relatively well known shallow reef biodiversity and endemism.

References

- Andradi-Brown, D. A., Beer, A. J. E., Colin, L., Hastuti, Head, C. E. I., Hidayat, N. I., ... Ahmadia, G. N. (2021). Highly Diverse Mesophotic Reef Fish Communities in Raja Ampat, West Papua. *Coral Reefs*, 40, 111–130.
- Asher, J., Williams, I. D., & Harvey, E. S. (2017). Mesophotic Depth Gradients Impact Reef Fish Assemblage Composition and Functional Group Partitioning in the Main Hawaiian Islands. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 4, 1–18.
- Bartón, K. (2014). MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.10.0. 2014.
- Baselga, A., & Orme, C. D. L. (2012). Betapart: An R Package for the Study of Beta Diversity. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3, 808–812.
- Baselga, A., Orme, C. D. L., & Villéger, S. (2013). Betapart: Partitioning Beta Diversity into Turnover and Nestedness Components. R Foundation for Statistical Computing 2013.
- Beaudreau, A. H., & Essington, T. E. (2011). Use of Pelagic Prey Subsidies by Demersal Predators in Rocky Reefs: Insight from Movement Patterns of Lingcod. *Marine Biology*, 158, 471–483.
- Bezerra, I. M., Hostim-Silva, M., Teixeira, J. L. S., Hackradt, C. W., Félix-Hackradt, F.C., & Schiavetti, A. (2021). Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Spawning

Aggregations of Fish from the Epinephelidae and Lutjanidae Families: An Analysis by the Local Ecological Knowledge of Fishermen in the Tropical Southwestern Atlantic. *Fisheries Research*, *239*, 105937.

- Bond, T., Partridge, J. C., Taylor, M. D., Cooper, T. F., & McLean, D. L. (2018). The Influence of Depth and a Subsea Pipeline on Fish Assemblages and Commercially Fished Species. *PLoS ONE*, 13, e0207703.
- Bostrom, M. A., Collette, B. B., Luckhurst, B. E., Reece, K. S., & Graves, J. E. (2002).
 Hybridization between Two Serranids, the Coney (*Cephalopholis fulva*) and the Creole-Fish (*Paranthias furcifer*), at Bermuda. *Fishery Bulletin*, 100, 651–661.
- Brandl, S. J., Goatley, C. H. R., Bellwood, D. R., & Tornabene, L. (2018). The Hidden Half: Ecology and Evolution of Cryptobenthic Fishes on Coral Reefs. *Biological Reviews*, 93, 1846–1873.
- Cappo, M., Stowar, M., Syms, C., Johansson, C., & Cooper, T. (2011). Fish-Habitat Associations in the Region Offshore from James Price Point - a Rapid Assessment Using Baited Remote Underwater Video Stations (BRUVS). *Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia*, 94, 303–321.
- Cappo, M., Speare, P., & De'Ath, G. (2004). Comparison of Baited Remote Underwater Video Stations (BRUVS) and Prawn (Shrimp) Trawls for Assessments of Fish Biodiversity in Inter-Reefal Areas of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. *Journal* of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 302, 123–152.
- Cheung, W. W. L., Pitcher, T. J., & Pauly, D. (2005). A Fuzzy Logic Expert System to Estimate Intrinsic Extinction Vulnerabilities of Marine Fishes to Fishing. *Biological Conservation*, 124, 97–111.
- Clarke, K. R., & Gorley, R. N. (2006). *PRIMER v6: User Manual/Tutorial*. Plymouth: PRIMER-E.
- Clarke, K. R., & Gorley, R. N. (2015). *Primer v7: User Manual/Tutorial*. Plymouth: PRIMER-E.
- Cocheret de la Morinière, E., Pollux, B. J. A., Nagelkerken, I., & van der Velde, G. (2002). Post-Settlement Life Cycle Migration Patterns and Habitat Preference of Coral Reef Fish That Use Seagrass and Mangrove Habitats as Nurseries. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 55, 309–321.
- Darling, E. S., Graham, N. A. J., Januchowski-Hartley, F. A., Nash, K. L., Pratchett, M. S., & Wilson, S. K. (2017). Relationships between Structural Complexity, Coral Traits, and Reef Fish Assemblages. *Coral Reefs*, 36, 561–575.

- Eggertsen, L., Ferreira, C. E. L., Fontoura, L., Kautsky, N., Gullström, M., & Berkström,
 C. (2017). Seaweed Beds Support More Juvenile Reef Fish than Seagrass Beds in
 a South-Western Atlantic Tropical Seascape. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science,* 196, 97–108.
- Feeley, M. W., Morley, D., Acosta, A., Barbera, P., Hunt, J., Switzer, T., & Burton, M. (2018). Spawning Migration Movements of Mutton Snapper in Tortugas, Florida: Spatial Dynamics within a Marine Reserve Network. *Fisheries Research*, 204, 209– 223.
- Froese, R., & Pauly, D. (2021). FishBase. World Wide Web electronic publication. http://www.fishbase.org (accessed May 20, 2021).
- Gasparini, J. L., & Floeter, S. R. (2001). The Shore Fishes of Trindade Island, Western South Atlantic. *Journal of Natural History*, 35, 1639–1656.
- Giglio, V. J., Pinheiro, H. T., Bender, M. G., Bonaldo, R. M., Costa-Lotufo, L. V., Ferreira, C. E. L., ... Francini-Filho, R. B. (2018). Large and Remote Marine Protected Areas in the South Atlantic Ocean Are Flawed and Raise Concerns: Comments on Soares and Lucas (2018). *Marine Policy*, 96, 13–17.
- Goetze, J. S., Wilson, S., Radford, B., Fisher, R., Langlois, T. J., Monk, J., ... Harvey, E.
 S. (2021). Increased Connectivity and Depth Improve the Effectiveness of Marine Reserves. *Global Change Biology*, gcb.15635.
- Gratwicke, B., & Speight, M. R. (2005). The Relationship between Fish Species Richness, Abundance and Habitat Complexity in a Range of Shallow Tropical Marine Habitats. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 66, 650–667.
- Guabiroba, H. C., Santos, M. E. A., Pinheiro, H. T., Simon, T., Pimentel, C. R., Vilar, C. C., & Joyeux, J.-C. (2020a). Trends in Recreational Fisheries and Reef Fish Community Structure Indicate Decline in Target Species Population in an Isolated Tropical Oceanic Island. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 191, 105194.
- Guabiroba, H. C., Pimentel, C. R., Mariano Macieira, R., Cardozo-Ferreira, G. C., Teixeira, J. B., Gasparini, J. L., ... Pinheiro, H. T. (2020b). New Records of Fishes for the Vitória-Trindade Chain, Southwestern Atlantic. *Check List*, 16, 699–705.
- Harvey, E. S., Cappo, M., Kendrick, G. A., & McLean, D. L. (2013). Coastal Fish Assemblages Reflect Geological and Oceanographic Gradients within an Australian Zootone. *PLoS ONE*, 8, 1–17.
- Hasen, M. A. F., Viramonte, J. G., Troian, F. L., Mizusaki, A. M. P., Becchio, R., & Fensterseifer, H. C. (1998). Nuevas Edades Para El Volcanismo de Las Islas

Trindade y Martin Vaz, Brasil. In *Sixth International Meeting: Colima Volcano* pp. 26.1–28.1.

- Holz, V., Bahia, R., Karez, C., Vieira, F., Moraes, F., Vale, N., ... Bastos, A. (2020). Structure of Rhodolith Beds and Surrounding Habitats at the Doce River Shelf (Brazil). *Diversity*, 12, 75.
- Kamil, B. (2016). MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version, 1, 1–15.
- Krajewski, J. P., & Floeter, S. R. (2011). Reef Fish Community Structure of the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago (Equatorial Western Atlantic): The Influence of Exposure and Benthic Composition. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 92, 25–40.
- Longo, G. O., Morais, R. A., Martins, C. D. L., Mendes, T. C., Aued, A. W., Cândido, D. V., ... Floeter, S. R. (2015). Between-Habitat Variation of Benthic Cover, Reef Fish Assemblage and Feeding Pressure on the Benthos at the Only Atoll in South Atlantic: Rocas Atoll, NE Brazil. *PLoS ONE*, *10*, e0127176.
- Luiz, O. J., Mendes, T. C., Barneche, D. R., Ferreira, C. G. W., Noguchi, R., Villaça, R. C., ... Ferreira, C. E. L. (2015). Community Structure of Reef Fishes on a Remote Oceanic Island (St Peter and St Paul's Archipelago, Equatorial Atlantic): The Relative Influence of Abiotic and Biotic Variables. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 66, 739–749.
- Maia, H. A., Morais, R. A., Quimbayo, J. P., Dias, M. S., Sampaio, C. L. S., Horta, P. A.,
 ... Floeter, S. R. (2018). Spatial Patterns and Drivers of Fish and Benthic Reef
 Communities at São Tomé Island, Tropical Eastern Atlantic. *Marine Ecology*, 39, e12520.
- Meirelles, P. M., Amado-Filho, G. M., Pereira-Filho, G. H., Pinheiro, H. T., De Moura,
 R. L., Joyeux, J. C., ... Thompson, F. L. (2015). Baseline Assessment of
 Mesophotic Reefs of the Vitória-Trindade Seamount Chain Based on Water
 Quality, Microbial Diversity, Benthic Cover and Fish Biomass Data. *PLoS ONE*, 10, 1–22.
- Mohriak, W. (2020). Genesis and Evolution of the South Atlantic Volcanic Islands Offshore Brazil. *Geo-Marine Letters*, 40, 1–33.
- Morais, R. A., Ferreira, C. E. L., & Floeter, S. R. (2017). Spatial Patterns of Fish Standing Biomass across Brazilian Reefs. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *91*, 1642–1667.
- Moura, R. L., Abieri, M. L., Castro, G. M., Carlos-Júnior, L. A., Chiroque-Solano, P. M., Fernandes, N. C., ... Bastos, A. C. (2021). Tropical Rhodolith Beds Are a Major and Belittled Reef Fish Habitat. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 1–10.
- Oliveira, R. R. d. S., Macieira, R. M., & Giarrizzo, T. (2016). Ontogenetic Shifts in Fishes between Vegetated and Unvegetated Tidepools: Assessing the Effect of Physical Structure on Fish Habitat Selection. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 89, 959–976.
- Papastamatiou, Y. P., Meyer, C. G., Kosaki, R. K., Wallsgrove, N. J., & Popp, B. N. (2015). Movements and Foraging of Predators Associated with Mesophotic Coral Reefs and Their Potential for Linking Ecological Habitats. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 521, 155–170.
- Pereira-Filho, G. H., Amado-Filho, G. M., Guimarães, S. M. P. B., Moura, R. L., Sumida,
 P. Y. G., Abrantes, D. P., ... Francini Filho, R. B. (2011). Reef Fish and Benthic Assemblages of the Trindade and Martin Vaz Island Group, Southwestern Atlantic. *Brazilian Journal of Oceanography*, *59*, 201–212.
- Pereira, P. H. C. (2017). Benthic Composition Influences Habitat Use and Toxicity of Coral-Dwelling Fishes. *Marine Biology*, 164, 189.
- Pimentel, C. R., Rocha, L. A., Shepherd, B., Phelps, T. A. Y., Joyeux, J.-C., Martins, A. S., ... Pinheiro, H. T. (2020). Mesophotic Ecosystems at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, Brazil (South-Western Atlantic), Reveal Unique Ichthyofauna and Need for Conservation. *Neotropical Ichthyology*, 18, e200050.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Rocha, L. A., Macieira, R. M., Carvalho-Filho, A., Anderson, A. B., Bender, M. G., ... Floeter, S. R. (2018). South-Western Atlantic Reef Fishes: Zoogeographical Patterns and Ecological Drivers Reveal a Secondary Biodiversity Centre in the Atlantic Ocean. *Diversity and Distributions*, 24, 951–965.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Martins, A. S., & Gasparini, J. L. (2010a). Impact of Commercial Fishing on Trindade Island and Martin Vaz Archipelago, Brazil: Characteristics, Conservation Status of the Species Involved and Prospects for Preservation. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 53, 1417–1423.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Ferreira, C. E. L., Joyeux, J.-C., Santos, R. G., & Horta, P. A. (2011). Reef Fish Structure and Distribution in a South-Western Atlantic Ocean Tropical Island. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 79, 1984–2006.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Mazzei, E., Moura, R. L., Amado-Filho, G. M., Carvalho-Filho, A., Braga, A. C., ... Joyeux, J.-C. (2015). Fish Biodiversity of the Vitória-Trindade Seamount Chain, Southwestern Atlantic: An Updated Database. *PLoS ONE*, 10, e0118180.

- Pinheiro, H. T., Camilato, V., Gasparini, J. L., & Joyeux, J. C. (2009). New Records of Fishes for Trindade-Martin Vaz Oceanic Insular Complex, Brazil. Zootaxa, 54, 45– 54.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Goodbody-Gringley, G., Jessup, M. E., Shepherd, B., Chequer, A. D., & Rocha, L. A. (2016). Upper and Lower Mesophotic Coral Reef Fish Communities Evaluated by Underwater Visual Censuses in Two Caribbean Locations. *Coral Reefs*, 35, 139–151.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Gasparini, J. L., & Sazima, I. (2010b). Sparisoma rocha, a New Species of Parrotfish (Actinopterygii: Labridae) from Trindade Island, South-Western Atlantic. Zootaxa, 2493, 59–65.
- Reis-Filho, J. A., Schmid, K., Harvey, E. S., & Giarrizzo, T. (2019). Coastal Fish Assemblages Reflect Marine Habitat Connectivity and Ontogenetic Shifts in an Estuary-Bay-Continental Shelf Gradient. *Marine Environmental Research*, 148, 57–66.
- Rocha, L. A., Pinheiro, H. T., Shepherd, B., Papastamatiou, Y. P., Luiz, O. J., Pyle, R.L., & Bongaerts, P. (2018). Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems Are Threatened and Ecologically Distinct from Shallow Water Reefs. *Science*, *361*.
- Rosa, M. R., Alves, A. C., Medeiros, D. V., Coni, E. O. C., Ferreira, C. M., Ferreira, B.
 P., ... Francini-Filho, R. B. (2016). Mesophotic Reef Fish Assemblages of the Remote St. Peter and St. Paul's Archipelago, Mid-Atlantic Ridge, Brazil. *Coral Reefs*, 35, 113–123.
- Semmler, R. F., Hoot, W. C., & Reaka, M. L. (2017). Are Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems Distinct Communities and Can They Serve as Refugia for Shallow Reefs? *Coral Reefs*, 36, 433–444.
- Simon, T., Macieira, R. M., & Joyeux, J.-C. (2013). The Shore Fishes of the Trindade Martin Vaz Insular Complex: An Update. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 82, 2113–2127.
- Smith-Vaniz, W. F., Tornabene, L., & Macieira, R. M. (2018). Review of Brazilian Jawfishes of the Genus *Opistognathus* with Descriptions of Two New Species (Teleostei, Opistognathidae). *ZooKeys*, 2018, 95–133.
- Vilar, C. C., Magris, R. A., Loyola, R., & Joyeux, J.-C. (2020). Strengthening the Synergies among Global Biodiversity Targets to Reconcile Conservation and Socio-economic Demands. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 30, 497–513.

- Whitmarsh, S. K., Fairweather, P. G., & Huveneers, C. (2017). What Is Big BRUVver up to? Methods and Uses of Baited Underwater Video. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 27, 53–73.
- Williams, J. J., Papastamatiou, Y. P., Caselle, J. E., Bradley, D., & Jacoby, D. M. P. (2018). Mobile Marine Predators: An Understudied Source of Nutrients to Coral Reefs in an Unfished Atoll. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 285, 20172456.
- Wood, S. (2011). Mgcv: Mixed GAM Computation Vehicle with Automatic Smoothness Estimation. R Foundation for Statistical Computing 2011.
- Wood, S. (2012). Mgcv: Mixed GAM Computation Vehicle with GCV/AIC/REML Smoothness Estimation.
- Zintzen, V., Anderson, M. J., Roberts, C. D., Harvey, E. S., & Stewart, A. L. (2017). Effects of Latitude and Depth on the Beta Diversity of New Zealand Fish Communities. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 1–10.

Supporting information

		Reef	Rł	nodolith		Sand	Ma	croalgae		Total
Taxa	N = 22		N = 14		N = 21		N = 3		N = 60	
	MaxN	Mean ± SD	MaxN	Mean ± SD	MaxN	Mean ± SD	MaxN	Mean ± SD	MaxN	Mean ± SD
Abudefduf saxatilis	112	5.09 ± 6.44			1	0.05 ± 0.21			113	1.88 ± 4.60
Acanthostracion polygonius							1	0.33 ± 0.47	1	0.02 ± 0.13
Acanthostracion sp.	2	0.09 ± 0.29	2	0.14 ± 0.35	1	0.05 ± 0.21			5	0.08 ± 0.28
Acanthurus bahianus	38	1.73 ± 1.71							38	0.63 ± 1.33
Acanthurus coeruleus	12	0.55 ± 0.72							12	0.20 ± 0.51
Aetobatus narinari					1	0.05 ± 0.21			1	0.02 ± 0.13
Aluterus monoceros	3	0.14 ± 0.62	12	0.86 ± 2.39	4	0.19 ± 0.85			19	0.32 ± 1.35
Aluterus scriptus	5	0.23 ± 0.52	1	0.07 ± 0.26	6	0.29 ± 0.63	2	0.67 ± 0.47	14	0.23 ± 0.53
Anisotremus surinamensis	4	0.18 ± 0.49							4	0.07 ± 0.31
Balistes vetula	31	1.41 ± 0.83	39	2.79 ± 1.78	12	0.57 ± 0.95	1	0.33 ± 0.47	83	1.38 ± 1.44
Bodianus pulchellus	3	0.14 ± 0.34							3	0.05 ± 0.22
Bodianus rufus	21	0.95 ± 0.82							21	0.35 ± 0.68
Bothus lunatus					2	0.10 ± 0.29			2	0.03 ± 0.18
Bothus sp.			4	0.29 ± 0.59			2	0.67 ± 0.94	6	0.10 ± 0.40
Cantherhines macrocerus	17	0.77 ± 0.6	15	1.07 ± 0.80	7	0.33 ± 0.56	1	0.33 ± 0.47	40	0.67 ± 0.70
Cantherhines pullus	1	0.05 ± 0.21							1	0.02 ± 0.13
Canthidermis sufflamen	13	0.59 ± 0.72	5	0.36 ± 0.48	8	0.38 ± 0.58			26	0.43 ± 0.62
Caranx crysos			3	0.21 ± 0.41	9	0.43 ± 0.66	12	4 ± 4.24	24	0.40 ± 1.34
Caranx lugubris	14	0.64 ± 0.98	19	1.36 ± 3.08	6	0.29 ± 0.76			39	0.65 ± 1.72
Caranx ruber	6	0.27 ± 0.45	27	1.93 ± 1.87	8	0.38 ± 0.79	2	0.67 ± 0.94	43	0.72 ± 1.27

Table S1: Total and mean (\pm standard deviation) relative abundance (MaxN) of the fish assemblages recorded in each benthic habitat from the oceanic Trindade Island.

Carcharhinus perezii	15	0.68 ± 0.92	2	0.14 ± 0.35	1	0.05 ± 0.21			18	0.30 ± 0.67
Centropyge aurantonotus			12	0.86 ± 1.81					12	0.20 ± 0.95
Cephalopholis fulva	180	8.18 ± 5.16	11	0.79 ± 1.37	9	0.43 ± 1.33	2	0.67 ± 0.94	202	3.37 ± 4.93
Chaetodon striatus	4	0.18 ± 0.49							4	0.07 ± 0.31
Chilomycterus reticulatus	1	0.05 ± 0.21	2	0.14 ± 0.52	1	0.05 ± 0.21			4	0.07 ± 0.31
Chromis multilineata	61	2.77 ± 6.26							61	1.02 ± 4.02
Clepticus brasiliensis	1	0.05 ± 0.21							1	0.02 ± 0.13
Congridae					2	0.10 ± 0.29			2	0.03 ± 0.18
Cryptotomus roseus							1	0.33 ± 0.47	1	0.02 ± 0.13
Dactylopterus volitans			1	0.07 ± 0.26					1	0.02 ± 0.13
Dermatolepis inermis	1	0.05 ± 0.21							1	0.02 ± 0.13
Diodon holocanthus			2	0.14 ± 0.35					2	0.03 ± 0.18
Diodon hystrix	1	0.05 ± 0.21	1	0.07 ± 0.26					2	0.03 ± 0.18
Diplodus argenteus	5	0.23 ± 0.52							5	0.08 ± 0.33
Echeneis naucrates	1	0.05 ± 0.21							1	0.02 ± 0.13
Echidna catenata	2	0.09 ± 0.42							2	0.03 ± 0.26
Elagatis bipinnulata					2	0.10 ± 0.29	1	0.33 ± 0.47	3	0.05 ± 0.22
Epinephelus adscensionis	29	1.32 ± 0.87							29	0.48 ± 0.83
Fistularia petimba			7	0.5 ± 0.73	17	0.81 ± 2.65	6	2.00 ± 2.16	30	0.50 ± 1.75
Galeocerdo cuvier	1	0.05 ± 0.21			2	0.10 ± 0.29	1	0.33 ± 0.47	4	0.07 ± 0.25
Ginglymostoma cirratum	1	0.05 ± 0.21	1	0.07 ± 0.26					2	0.03 ± 0.18
Gymnothorax moringa	17	0.77 ± 0.6	7	0.50 ± 0.73	2	0.10 ± 0.29			26	0.43 ± 0.62
Halichoeres brasiliensis	28	1.27 ± 0.62	2	0.14 ± 0.35					30	0.50 ± 0.72
Halichoeres penrosei	14	0.64 ± 2.31	1	0.07 ± 0.26					15	0.25 ± 1.43
Halichoeres poeyi	7	0.32 ± 0.76							7	0.12 ± 0.49
Halichoeres rubrovirens	6	0.27 ± 0.54	1	0.07 ± 0.26			3	1.00 ± 1.41	10	0.17 ± 0.52
Holacanthus tricolor	20	0.91 ± 0.51	7	0.50 ± 0.73					27	0.45 ± 0.62
Holocentrus adscensionis	13	0.59 ± 0.72	32	2.29 ± 8.24	1	0.05 ± 0.21			46	0.77 ± 4.10

Hybrid (C. fulva and P. furcifer)	5	0.23 ± 0.52							5	0.08 ± 0.33
Kyphosus cinerascens	1	0.05 ± 0.21							1	0.02 ± 0.13
Kyphosus spp.	212	9.64 ± 17.94	22	1.57 ± 5.39					234	3.90 ± 12.01
Malacanthus plumieri	9	0.41 ± 0.58	23	1.64 ± 1.44	16	0.76 ± 1.02	2	0.67 ± 0.94	50	0.83 ± 1.11
Malacoctenus brunoi	1	0.05 ± 0.21							1	0.02 ± 0.13
Melichthys niger	1493	67.86 ± 22.97	721	51.5 ± 26.59	542	25.81 ± 26.93	55	18.33 ± 25.93	2811	46.85 ± 31.75
Mulloidichthys martinicus	2	0.09 ± 0.42							2	0.03 ± 0.26
Mycteroperca interstitialis	2	0.09 ± 0.42							2	0.03 ± 0.26
Myrichthys breviceps	3	0.14 ± 0.34							3	0.05 ± 0.22
Myripristis jacobus	2	0.09 ± 0.29							2	0.03 ± 0.18
Opistognathus aurifrons			2	0.14 ± 0.52	2	0.10 ± 0.43			4	0.07 ± 0.36
Paranthias furcifer	21	0.95 ± 2.14	198	14.14 ± 35.59					219	3.65 ± 18.19
Pseudupeneus maculatus	18	0.82 ± 1.07	4	0.29 ± 0.59	2	0.10 ± 0.43	16	5.33 ± 7.54	40	0.67 ± 2.16
Rypticus saponaceus	7	0.32 ± 0.47	13	0.93 ± 0.80					20	0.33 ± 0.60
Scorpaena plumieri			2	0.14 ± 0.35					2	0.03 ± 0.18
Scorpaena sp.			1	0.07 ± 0.26	1	0.05 ± 0.21			2	0.03 ± 0.18
Seriola dumerili	1	0.05 ± 0.21							1	0.02 ± 0.13
Seriola rivoliana	16	0.73 ± 1.17	22	1.57 ± 1.55	27	1.29 ± 0.88	5	1.67 ± 0.94	70	1.17 ± 1.23
Serranus annularis			4	0.29 ± 0.70					4	0.07 ± 0.36
Sparisoma amplum	24	1.09 ± 1.68	32	2.29 ± 5.91	3	0.14 ± 0.47			59	0.98 ± 3.15
Sparisoma axillare	15	0.68 ± 0.70	1	0.07 ± 0.26					16	0.27 ± 0.54
Sparisoma rocha	1	0.05 ± 0.21	1	0.07 ± 0.26			1	0.33 ± 0.47	3	0.05 ± 0.22
Sphoeroides spengleri	2	0.09 ± 0.29	2	0.14 ± 0.35			4	1.33 ± 1.25	8	0.13 ± 0.46
Sphyraena barracuda	6	0.27 ± 0.45	2	0.14 ± 0.35	2	0.10 ± 0.29			10	0.17 ± 0.37
Sphyrna lewini	1	0.05 ± 0.21			4	0.19 ± 0.39			5	0.08 ± 0.28
Stegastes pictus	4	0.18 ± 0.57	13	0.93 ± 1.49					17	0.28 ± 0.88
Stegastes trindadensis	3	0.14 ± 0.46							3	0.05 ± 0.28
Thalassoma noronhanum	131	5.95 ± 9.40							131	2.18 ± 6.38

Xyrichtys novacula					55	2.62 ± 2.68	1	0.33 ± 0.47	56	0.93 ± 2.02
Xyrichtys sp.			1	0.07 ± 0.26	1	0.05 ± 0.21	1	0.33 ± 0.47	3	0.05 ± 0.22
Xyrichtys splendens							5	1.67 ± 2.36	5	0.08 ± 0.64
Total	2670	121.36 ± 28.56	1280	91.43 ± 57.51	757	$\textbf{36.05} \pm \textbf{28.38}$	125	41.67 ± 36.33	4832	80.53 ± 53.16

proportion of benu	The Habitats for th	le taxononne su ue	ture of the fish as	semblages.
PCO1	edf	Ref.df	F	P-value
s(Depth)	3.978	4.877	4.670	0.002
s(Reef)	10.000	10.000	9.184	0.004
s(Rhodolith)	1.907	2.270	2.845	0.055
s(Sand)	1.700	2.054	1.200	0.284
PCO2	edf	Ref.df	F	P-value
s(Depth)	4.499	5.476	3.043	0.014
s(Reef)	10.000	10.000	49.000	0.051
s(Rhodolith)	10.000	10.000	01.000	0.975
s(Sand)	4.398	5.306	39.000	0.018

Table S2: Generalized additive models presenting the approximate significance of smooth terms for the correlations between the PCO's axes and the depth gradient and the proportion of benthic habitats for the taxonomic structure of the fish assemblages.

Table S3: Top-ranked generalized additive models used to analyse the relationships between the explanatory variables and the species richness, total abundance and biomass, biomass of the trophic groups, average vulnerability, abundance and richness of endemic species.

Dependent variables	Best model	AICc	ΔAICc	AICc weight							
Richness	Reef + Sand	351.6	0	0.402							
TMaxN	Reef + Rhodolith	612.8	0	0.312							
TBiomass	Depth + Reef	1512.7	1.11	0.098							
Trophic group											
Comission	Depth	1512.1	1.18	0.101							
Carnivores	Depth + Reef	1512.1	1.18	0.101							
Mobile invertebrate feeders	Depth + Sand	1125.9	0	0.399							
Omnivores	Sand	921.6	0	0.212							
Planktivores	Depth	1032.2	0	0.251							
Average vulnerability	Depth + Sand	357.9	0	0.260							
Abundance endemic	Reef + Rhodolith	415.9	0	0.224							
Richness endemic	Reef + Sand	194.7	0	0.301							



Figure S1: Generalized additive model plots showing the relationships between PCOs' axes with the depth gradient and the proportion of each benthic habitat. Confidence limits of 95% are shown in blue and green. P values indicate significant relationships.

Capítulo 3 - Mesophotic ecosystems at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, Brazil (Southwestern Atlantic), reveal unique ichthyofauna and need for conservation



Mesophotic ecosystems at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, Brazil (Southwestern Atlantic), reveal unique ichthyofauna and need for conservation

⁶Caio R. Pimentel^{1,2}, ⁶Luiz A. Rocha², ⁶Bart Shepherd², ⁶Tyler A. Y. Phelps²,
⁶Jean-Christophe Joyeux¹, ⁶Agnaldo S. Martins¹, ⁶Carlos Eduardo Stein³,
⁶João B. Teixeira^{1,3}, ⁶João Luiz Gasparini^{1,4}, ⁶José Amorim Reis-Filho⁵,
⁶Ricardo C. Garla⁶, ⁶Ronaldo B. Francini-Filho⁷, ⁶Stephanie D. T. Delfino¹,
⁶Thayná J. Mello⁸, ⁶Tommaso Giarrizzo⁹ and ⁶Hudson T. Pinheiro^{2,3}

Although several studies on the ichthyofauna of the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago have been carried out, its mesophotic fish diversity has never been surveyed before. Here we used SCUBA and technical rebreather diving, baited remote underwater videos and remotely operated vehicle to record shallow (\leq 30 m depth) and mesophotic (31 to 150 m depth) fishes. Nineteen fish species belonging to 14 families are reported here as new records, representing an increase of 8.2% in marine fish richness for the region, which now has a total of 250 species and 77 families. These new records include four potential new species and highlight the importance of surveying mesophotic ecosystems, even in well studied sites. Our results also emphasize the need for protection and attention to the unique ichthyofauna found at mesophotic depths.

Keywords: BRUVS, Marine Protected Area, Oceanic Island, Rebreather, Remotely Operated Vehicle.

- 7 Centro de Biologia Marinha, Univ. de São Paulo, 11612-109 São Sebastião, SP, Brazil. (RBFF) francinifilho@usp.br.
- 8 Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia, Centro de Biociências, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte, 59072-970 Natal, RN, Brazil (TJM) thaynajm@gmail.com.
- 9 Núcleo de Ecologia Aquática e Pesca da Amazônia, Univ. Federal do Pará, Av. Perimetral, 2651, Terra Firme, 66040-170 Belém, PA, Brazil. (TG) tgiarrizzo@gmail.com.

Correspondence: Caio R. Pimentel caiopimentelr@gmail.com

Submitted June 16, 2020 Accepted October 30, 2020 by Fernando Gibran Epub December 14, 2020

Online version ISSN 1982-0224 Print version ISSN 1679-6225

Neotrop. Ichthyol.

vol. 18, no. 4, Maringá 2020



1/17

¹ Programa de Pós-Graduação em Oceanografia Ambiental, Dep. de Oceanografia e Ecologia, Univ. Federal do Espírito Santo, Av. Fernando Ferrari, 514, Goiabeiras, 29075-910 Vitória, ES, Brazil. (CRP) caiopimentelr@gmail.com, (JCJ) jean.joyeux@ufes.br, (ASM) agnaldo.ufes@gmail.com, (JBT) jboceano@gmail.com, (JLG) gaspa.vix@gmail.com, (SDTD) dtdstephanie@gmail.com.

² California Academy of Sciences, 94118 San Francisco, CA, USA. (LAR) lrocha@calacademy.org, (BS) bshepherd@calacademy. org, (TP) tphelps@calacademy.org, San Francisco State University, 94132 San Francisco, CA, USA, (HTP) htpinheiro@gmail.com.

³ Associação Ambiental Voz da Natureza, Rua Coronel Shuwab Filho, 104, 29052-070 Vitória, ES, Brazil. (CES) stein.ce@gmail.com.

⁴ Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Ambientais e Conservação, Instituto de Biodiversidade e Sustentabilidade, Univ. Federal do Rio de Janeiro, 29910-970 Macaé, RJ, Brazil.

⁵ ICHTUS Soluções em Meio Ambiente, R. Dep. Herculano Menezes, 10, 41335-400 Salvador, BA, Brazil. (JARF) amorim@icthusambiental.com.br.

⁶ Departamento de Botânica e Zoologia, Univ. Federal do Rio Grande do Norte, 59078-970 Natal, RN, Brazil. (RCG) rgarla@hotmail.com.

Apesar de muitos estudos sobre a ictiofauna do Arquipélago de Fernando de Noronha terem sido realizados, sua diversidade de peixes mesofóticos nunca foi estudada antes. Neste estudo utilizamos mergulho autônomo e mergulho técnico, vídeos subaquáticos remotos com isca e veículo operado remotamente para registrar peixes de ecossistemas rasos (≤ 30 m de profundidade) e mesofóticos (31 a 150 m de profundidade). Dezenove espécies de peixes pertencentes a 14 famílias são apresentadas aqui como novos registros, representando um aumento de 8,2% na riqueza de peixes marinhos da região, que agora possui um total de 250 espécies e 77 famílias. Esses novos registros incluem quatro prováveis novas espécies e reforçam a importância de estudos em ecossistemas mesofóticos. Nossos resultados também enfatizam a necessidade de proteção e atenção à essa ictiofauna única encontrada nesses ecossistemas profundos.

Palavras-chave: Área Marinha Protegida, BRUVS, Ilha Oceânica, Rebreather, Veículo Operado Remotamente.

INTRODUCTION

Due to their geographical isolation, oceanic islands are often unique environments with biodiversity characterized by high endemism (Vaske Jr *et al.*, 2005; Macieira *et al.*, 2015; Kosaki *et al.*, 2017; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018a). These environments function as true natural laboratories for evolutionary and ecological studies (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2017) and are important for understanding patterns of species dispersal and establishment (Losos, Ricklefs, 2009). Recent studies are revealing many new species and new occurrences, filling gaps in the biodiversity knowledge and increasing our understanding about the biogeographic patterns of oceanic islands (*e.g.*, Simon *et al.*, 2013; Macieira *et al.*, 2015; Carvalho-Filho *et al.*, 2016; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018a).

Knowledge about reef fish biodiversity and biogeographic patterns of South Atlantic oceanic islands has steadily increased over the past two decades (*e.g.*, Batista *et al.*, 2012; Wirtz *et al.*, 2017; Hachich *et al.*, 2015; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2015, 2018a; Quimbayo *et al.*, 2019). However, mesophotic ecosystems (between 31 – 150 m depth) remain largely unknown and are only now receiving some scientific attention (*e.g.*, Rocha *et al.*, 2018). Even though these ecosystems have been recognized since the 19th century (Sinniger *et al.*, 2016), the first studies in Brazil date back only to the 1960s (Francini-Filho *et al.*, 2019). Systematic studies of the mesophotic ecosystems have however increased worldwide (*e.g.*, Rosa *et al.*, 2015; Andradi-Brown *et al.*, 2016; Pyle *et al.*, 2016; Simon *et al.*, 2016; Rocha *et al.*, 2018; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2019; Pimentel *et al.*, 2020). Such pioneer studies have provided important baseline information, such as richness and diversity of species, and form the basis for more complex ecological and evolutionary studies.

Fernando de Noronha Archipelago (FN) is the most accessible oceanic island in Brazil, as it is relatively close to the mainland and has an airport. It also offers logistical support due to the presence of a research station and several dive shops and boats. Part of the Archipelago comprises a no-take Marine Protected Area (MPA), the Fernando de Noronha Marine National Park, which protects near-shore ecosystems (*e.g.*, tidepools, rocky shores, and reefs) to around 50 m depth. Most of the mesophotic ecosystems are located in a sustainable use MPA, the Fernando de Noronha – Rocas – São Pedro and São Paulo Environmental Protected Area, where fishing is allowed with some restrictions (ICMBio, 2017). Nearly all biodiversity and ecological studies of FN's ichthyofauna to date have been carried out in the intertidal (*e.g.*, Andrades *et al.*, 2018; Rodríguez-Rey *et al.*, 2018) and shallow (\leq 20 m deep) environments (*e.g.*, Krajewski, Floeter, 2011; Medeiros *et al.*, 2011; Ilarri *et al.*, 2017; Smith-Vaniz *et al.*, 2018; but see Garla *et al.*, 2006; Sazima *et al.*, 2010; Afonso *et al.*, 2017).

Therefore, to fill the knowledge gap about fish biodiversity from mesophotic ecosystems of the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, we carried out a large-scale survey using sampling techniques including technical rebreather diving, baited remote underwater stereo-video systems (stereo-BRUVS) and remotely operated vehicles (ROVs). Here, we present new records and new species of fishes discovered during our expedition, discuss aspects related to the island's biodiversity and biogeography, and highlight the need to protect insular mesophotic ecosystems.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study area. Fernando de Noronha Archipelago is located 345 km off the north-eastern Brazilian coast (03°50'S 32°25'W), on the Fernando de Noronha Submarine Ridge (Fig. 1). It is the largest Brazilian oceanic archipelago, composed by a volcanic island (16.4 km²) and 18 small islets (Almeida, 2006). The shallow reefs (\leq 30 m depth) are mainly composed by volcanic rocks predominantly covered by algal turfs and brown macroalgae, with low coral cover (Krajewski, Floeter, 2011). Following the pattern of low diversity typical of Atlantic oceanic islands (Ferreira et al., 2004; Floeter et al., 2008), the fish assemblages are dominated by a few very abundant species (Krajewski, Floeter, 2011; Ilarri et al., 2017). Compared to shallow reefs, the upper mesophotic reefs (31 to 60 m depth) show higher cover of sponges and the scleractinian coral Montastraea cavernosa (Linnaeus, 1767) (Matheus et al., 2019). A mosaic of habitats such as patch reefs, sand bottoms and rhodolith beds compose the middle mesophotic zone (61 to 90 m depth; Fig. 2). Below 90 m depth, the edge of the insular shelf followed by a steep wall characterizes the lower mesophotic zone (91 to 150 m; Fig. 3). A strong thermocline is found just below the shelf edge, where the temperature drops from ~27 to ~14 °C. The ecosystem at the lower mesophotic zone is highly complex, formed by rocky reefs covered mostly by crustose coralline algae, black corals and sponges.

Regarding environmental management, the Archipelago encompasses two different types of Marine Protected Areas, the no-take zone of the Fernando de Noronha Marine National Park (Brasil, 1988), and the sustainable use zone of the Fernando de Noronha – Rocas – São Pedro and São Paulo Environmental Protected Area (Brasil, 1986) (Fig. 1). The Marine National Park comprises about 70% of the main island (*i.e.*, all the windward coast and part of the leeward coast), all smaller islands and extends to around the 50 m isobath, with fishing prohibited and tourism regulated (Brasil, 1988; Ibama, 1990). The area of sustainable use aims to make human occupation, tourism and fishing compatible with environmental protection and preservation of natural



FIGURE 1 | Location of the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, Brazil (South-western Atlantic). Blue line indicates the area of the Marine National Park of Fernando de Noronha (no-take MPA). Dashed lines indicate the 30, 60, 90 and 150 m isobaths. Black triangles, red stars, golden squares and green dots indicate the position of stereo-BRUVS deployments, rebreather dives, SCUBA dives and ROV footages, respectively.

resources (Brasil, 1986; ICMBio, 2017). The use of trawl nets, longlines, drift nets and spears, as well as the capture of sharks, rays and parrotfishes are not allowed (Brasil, 1986; ICMBio, 2017).

Sampling procedures. The data presented here were obtained during a 15-day expedition in October 2019. Fish were recorded with SCUBA (*ca.* 30 h sampling in the euphotic zone) and technical rebreather diving (*ca.* 6 h sampling in the upper and 2 h in the lower mesophotic zone), remotely operated vehicle (ROV – *ca.* 8 h of footage) and baited remote underwater stereo-video systems (stereo-BRUVS – 42 deployments of 1 h footage each). Some fishes were collected using hand-nets and pole-spears, and voucher specimens were deposited in the ichthyological collection of the Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo (CIUFES; see Tab. 1 for catalogue numbers).

Data analysis. Species identification was performed using taxonomic keys (e.g.,



FIGURE 2 | Middle mesophotic (61 to 90 m depth) mosaic of habitats sampled with stereo-BRUVS around the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago. **A.** Patch reefs; **B.** Sand bottoms; and **C.** Rhodoliths beds.

Menezes, 1971; Knudsen, Clements, 2013) and, when necessary, comparing our collected specimens with others available at the ichthyological collection of CIUFES. We then classified the species according to: 1) depth zone of the record, *i.e.*, euphotic (\leq 30 m) or mesophotic (> 30 – 150 m), 2) habitat (reef or rhodolith), 3) the type of the record (collected, photographed or filmed with ROV or stereo-BRUVS), 4) geographic range (following Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018a), and 5) conservation status, following the International Union for Conservation of Nature's (IUCN) Red List of Threatened Species (https://www.iucnredlist.org).

RESULTS

Nineteen fish species belonging to 14 families are reported here as new records for FN (Tab. 1). The most speciose families were Kyphosidae and Serranidae, with three new records each, followed by Pomacentridae, with two new records. Fourteen new records (74% of total) were from the mesophotic ecosystems (Figs. 4–5; Tab. 1) and five (26%) from the euphotic zone (Fig. 6; Tab. 1). Seven species are distributed throughout the Western Atlantic, and the three Kyphosidae are circumtropical species. Three other species are amphi-Atlantic, one of which also occurs in the Mediterranean (*Balistes capriscus* Gmelin, 1789). *Aulotrachichthys argyrophanus* (Woods, 1961) occurs only in the South-western Atlantic and *Chromis scotti* Emery, 1968 is found in the Caribbean Sea and Northern Brazil (Moura *et al.*, 1999). Four new records are probable new species (*Synodus* sp., *Scorpaena* sp., *Psilotris* sp., and *Tosanoides* sp.) with unknown geographic range (Fig. 4E–G; Tab. 1). In terms of conservation status, only *B. capriscus* is listed as threatened, being currently classified as vulnerable in the IUCN Red List (Liu *et al.*, 2015).

TABLE 1 | New records of fishes from Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, north-eastern Brazil. Families are presented in phylogenetic order according to Nelson *et al.* (2016). Information about depth zone, habitat, record type and voucher of the new records, as well as distribution and conservation status of the species are presented. Depth zone of the record: euphotic (≤ 30 m deep) and mesophotic (31 to 150 m deep). Geographic range: amphi-Atlantic (AA), Caribbean Sea (CS), Circumtropical (CT), Mediterranean (M), Northern Brazil (NB), South-western Atlantic (SW) and Western Atlantic (WA). International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources (IUCN) conservation status: data deficient (DD), least concern (LC), and vulnerable (VU); N/A: not applicable.

Family	Species	Depth zone	Habitat	Record type	Voucher	Geographic range	Conservation status
Synodontidae	Synodus sp.	Mesophotic	Reef	Photo	Fig. 4	Unknown	N/A
Holocentridae	Corniger spinosus Agassiz, 1831	Mesophotic	Reef	Collected / Photo	CIUFES 3922 / Fig. 5	AA	LC
Trachichthyidae	Aulotrachichthys argyrophanus (Woods, 1961)	Mesophotic	Reef	Collected / Photo	CIUFES 3909 / Fig. 5	SW	DD
Apogonidae	Apogon pseudomaculatus Longley, 1932	Euphotic	Reef	Collected	CIUFES 3957	WA	LC
Gobiidae	Psilotris sp.	Mesophotic	Reef	Photo	Fig. 4	Unknown	N/A
Pomacentridae	Chromis enchrysura Jordan & Gilbert, 1882	Mesophotic	Reef	Collected / Photo	CIUFES 3902 / Fig. 4	AA	LC
Pomacentridae	Chromis scotti Emery, 1968	Mesophotic	Reef	Photo	Fig. 4	CS / NB	LC
Syngnathidae	Cosmocampus profundus (Herald, 1965)	Mesophotic	Rhodolith	Stereo-BRUVS	Fig. 4	WA	DD
Labridae	Decodon puellaris (Poey, 1860)	Mesophotic	Reef	Collected	CIUFES 3914 / Fig. 5	WA	LC
Kyphosidae	Kyphosus bigibbus Lacepède, 1801	Euphotic	Reef	Photo	Fig. 6	СТ	LC
Kyphosidae	Kyphosus cinerascens (Forsskål, 1775)	Euphotic	Reef	Photo	Fig. 6	СТ	LC
Kyphosidae	Kyphosus vaigiensis (Quoy & Gaimard, 1825)	Euphotic	Reef	Collected / Photo	CIUFES 4050 / Fig. 6	СТ	LC
Serranidae	Pronotogrammus martinicensis (Guichenot, 1868)	Mesophotic	Reef	Collected / Photo	CIUFES 3939 / 3960 / Fig. 5	WA	LC
Serranidae	Pseudogramma gregoryi (Breder, 1927)	Euphotic	Rhodolith	Collected / Photo	CIUFES 4029 / Fig. 6	WA	LC
Serranidae	Tosanoides sp.	Mesophotic	Reef	Collected	CIUFES 3892 / 3893 / 3894 / 3912 / 3913 / 3952	Unknown	N/A
Chaetodontidae	Prognathodes guyanensis (Durand, 1960)	Mesophotic	Reef	Collected / Photo / ROV	CIUFES 3959 / Fig. 4	WA	LC
Lutjanidae	Lutjanus buccanella (Cuvier, 1828)	Mesophotic	Rhodolith	Stereo-BRUVS	Fig. 4	WA	DD
Scorpaenidae	Scorpaena sp.	Mesophotic	Reef	Photo	Fig. 4	Unknown	N/A
Balistidae	Balistes capriscus Gmelin, 1789	Mesophotic	Rhodolith	Stereo-BRUVS	Fig. 3	AA / M	VU



FIGURE 4 | New records of fishes at the mesophotic ecosystems. A. *Chromis enchrysura* (~ 10 cm total length); B. *Balistes capriscus* (~ 30 cm total length); C. *Chromis scotti* (~ 7.5 cm total length); D. *Prognathodes guyanensis* (~ 15 cm total length); E. *Synodus* sp. (~ 15 cm total length); F. *Scorpaena* sp. (~ 7.5 cm total length); G. *Psilotris* sp. (~ 5 cm total length); and H. *Cosmocampus profundus* (white arrow; ~ 15 cm total; *I. Lutjanus buccanella* (~ 50 cm total length). Photos by L. A. Rocha (A, C-G) and stereo-BRUVS (B, H and I). *Tosanoides* sp. is under description and its picture is not shown.





FIGURE 5 | New records of fishes from the mesophotic ecosystems collected and photographed in aquarium. A. *Aulotrachichthys argyrophanus* (~ 6.5 cm total length; CIUFES 3909); B. *Corniger spinosus* (~ 15 cm total length; CIUFES 3922);
C. *Decodon puellaris* (~ 7.5 cm total length; CIUFES 3914); and
D. *Pronotogrammus martinicensis* (~ 20 cm total length; CIUFES 3939 / 3960). Photos by J. L. Gasparini.

FIGURE 6 | New records of fishes from the euphotic ecosystems. A. *Kyphosus bigibbus* (~ 25 cm total length); B. *Kyphosus cinerascens* (~ 25 cm total length); C. *Kyphosus vaigiensis* (~ 25 cm total length; CIUFES 4050); and D. *Pseudogramma gregoryi* (~ 6.5 cm total length; CIUFES 4029).
Photos A, B and C by J. L. Gasparini and photo D by R. M. Macieira. *Apogon pseudomaculatus* (CIUFES 3957) is not shown.

DISCUSSION

Fernando de Noronha Archipelago harbours the greatest richness of marine fish among the oceanic islands of the South Atlantic (Floeter *et al.*, 2008; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018a). The 19 new records presented here represent an increase of 8.2% in its marine ichthyofauna, now composed of 250 species and 77 families. Fernando de Noronha Archipelago is now between 22% and 36% richer, in fishes, than Trindade Island, Santa Helena Island, Ascension Island, Rocas Atoll and St. Paul's Archipelago (see Wirtz *et al.*, 2017; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018a, 2020; Brown *et al.*, 2019). This higher fish richness is probably related to FN being the largest and oldest island, situated relatively close to the continental shore, and being the most studied oceanic island in Brazil.

Even though we have also explored shallow ecosystems, this is the first systematic survey of the fish biodiversity of FN mesophotic ecosystems. Despite the logistical difficulties and risks associated with this type of exploration, our effort was rewarded as most of the new records (74%) came from the mesophotic ecosystems. In fact, we still know very little about mesophotic reefs in comparison to shallow ones, albeit they represent about 80% of the potential reef habitat worldwide (Pyle, Copus, 2019). Although they have been considered potential refuges for shallow water organisms and less susceptible to human and natural impacts, mesophotic reefs are increasingly being recognized as unique ecosystems, home to largely distinct and independent communities that are also impacted and in need of protection as much as shallow reefs (Rocha et al., 2018; Pyle, Copus, 2019). As reported elsewhere (Rocha et al., 2018), we found plastic trash and fishing debris (in 6% and 18% of the visual censuses, respectively) in mesophotic ecosystems explored around FN (Fig. 7), evidence of human impacts, which are even more noticeable in the intertidal and shallow ecosystems. Despite an islandwide ban on single use plastics (Pernambuco, 2018) and the presence of a program to eliminate plastic bags from the island, most of the goods that can be obtained in stores come wrapped in plastic.



FIGURE 7 | Evidence of human impacts (arrows) by fishing debris, plastics and other trash found in the ecosystems explored around the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago. **A.** and **B.** Mesophotic (> 30 m deep); **C.** Intertidal; and **D.** Shallow ecosystems (≤ 30 m deep). Photos **A** and **B** by L. A. Rocha and photos **C** and **D** by J. L. Gasparini.

Several studies addressing the diversity, biology and ecology of the shallow water fish assemblages of FN have been carried out (e.g., Krajewski, Floeter, 2011; Ilarri et al., 2017). However, even for the relatively well explored euphotic zone, we obtained new records such as Apogon pseudomaculatus Longley, 1932 and Pseudogramma gregoryi (Breder, 1927) (Tab. 1), reinforcing the need for further studies and a better understanding of the local cryptobenthic fish diversity. Currently, the cryptobenthic fishes represent only about 17% (~ 42 species) of the ichthyofauna of FN. Due to its small size and cryptic behaviour, most cryptobenthic fishes cannot be properly accessed by standard technics (e.g., underwater visual censuses and videos). Thus, in order to increase our knowledge of this hidden fish diversity, the scientific use of anaesthetics to collect specimens should be promoted (Collette et al., 2003; Williams et al., 2010). The importance of these underestimated assemblages of cryptobenthic fishes goes far beyond diversity. In a recent study, Brandl et al. (2019) showed that through their extraordinary larval dynamics, rapid growth, and extreme mortality, the hyperdiverse assemblages of abundant, small, and short-lived cryptobenthic species appear to be a critical functional group on the trophodynamics of coral reefs.

Regarding the species registered in the mesophotic ecosystems, we emphasize that this is only the second record of the genus *Tosanoides* for the Atlantic Ocean, with a new species previously recorded on mesophotic reefs of St. Paul's Archipelago (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018b). The present record corroborates the hypothesis that this genus is probably widely distributed in peripheral Atlantic sites (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018b). Differences in colour pattern suggest *Tosanoides* sp. from FN might be a new species, different from *Tosanoides aphrodite* Pinheiro, Rocha & Rocha, 2018, and genetic analyses are being carried out to confirm the species identity. Similarly, *Aulotrachichthys argyrophanus* (Woods, 1961) was previously known only from the type locality in the Southwest Atlantic, on the continental shelf slope off the Amazon River mouth, northern Brazil (Froese, Pauly, 2019; Moore, 2019). Finally, *Cosmocampus profundus* (Herald, 1965) is for the first time recorded in Brazil, previously known to occur only from eastern Florida to south Caribbean (Robertson, Van Tassell, 2019).

Another curious new record is the common *B. capriscus*, an amphi-Atlantic species widespread in the Atlantic Ocean (Liu et al., 2015; Froese, Pauly, 2019), which is also present at Trindade Island (Miranda Ribeiro, 1919) and St. Paul's Archipelago (Pinheiro et al., 2020). At FN and St. Paul's Archipelago, the species has been observed several times in groups of up to four individuals. In contrast, the only record of this species on Trindade Island dates from 1916, when one individual was collected during a scientific expedition by the National Museum of Rio de Janeiro (Miranda-Ribeiro, 1919). All recent extensive samplings around Trindade, in both euphotic and mesophotic ecosystems, including the use of technical dive (Pereira-Filho et al., 2011) and BRUVS (Pimentel et al., 2020), yielded no record for this species. New records of common and large fishes such as *B. capriscus* may result from the attractiveness of the BRUVS bait and sampling in the mesophotic ecosystems, however this does not appear to be the case here. Alternatively, this could represent a recent colonization and successful establishment in these oceanic islands (e.g., Mazzei et al., 2019). These observations involving colonization, establishment and extinction are in accordance with the Theory of Island Biogeography (e.g., Pinheiro et al., 2017), representing the main drivers balancing island diversity.

Other probable new species include *Psilotris* sp., *Scorpaena* sp. and *Synodus* sp., which have been only photographed. The goby resembles a *Psilotris* species (Luke Tornabene, 2020, pers. comm.), both in colour/appearance and in meristics: VII, 10 dorsal fin spines, with no visible scales and split pelvic fins. *Psilotris* sp. is closest in appearance to *Psilotris* kaufmani Greenfield, Findley & Johnson, 1993, but differs from it in having a unique body coloration, and not having a dark upper pectoral fin. The scorpaenid seems to belong to the genus Scorpaena (Alfredo Carvalho-Filho, 2020, pers. comm.) because the specimen has several pectoral fin rays well branched, especially the lower ones, whereas species of *Pontinus* have all rays unbranched. This *Scorpaena* sp. is different from the undescribed St. Paul's Archipelago species (Feitoza et al., 2003; CIUFES 0349), which has a snout larger than the eye. The synodontid is different from all other species occurring in Brazil (Alfredo Carvalho-Filho, 2020, pers. comm.). It differs from Synodus synodus (Linnaeus, 1758) in not having a characteristic black spot at the tip of the snout; from Synodus intermedius (Spix & Agassiz, 1829) and Synodus macrostigmus Frable, Luther & Baldwin, 2013 in not having a dark spot at upper right corner of the operculum; and from Synodus poeyi Jordan, 1887 in overall coloration, the latter being bluish. Therefore, these three species are likely undescribed. Considering that four possible new species were disclosed in two hours of exploration of the lower mesophotic ecosystems (four divers with an average of 30 min each), the discovery rate herein reported is of two new species per hour, which is consistent with recent findings in other unexplored mesophotic ecosystems of the world (Pinheiro et al., 2019; Pyle et al., 2019).

Here we have shown that the mesophotic ecosystems and the shallow cryptobenthic ichthyofauna need to be better studied, even in well-studied oceanic islands such as FN. We emphasize the need for protection of the mesophotic ecosystems of FN, looking for ways to conciliate activities such as fishing and tourism, with the preservation of the unique biodiversity and ecosystems found at mesophotic depths. As with shallow reefs, significant progress in the conservation of mesophotic ecosystems of FN could be reached by expanding the no-take zone of the Marine National Park beyond the 50 m isobath, or by creating some fishing exclusion zones inside the sustainable use MPA (Araújo, Bernard, 2016).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to NGO Voz da Natureza for supporting the project, and to Fundação Grupo Boticário de Proteção à Natureza and Hope for Reefs initiative (California Academy of Sciences) for funding. This work was partially supported by the Brazilian LTER Coastal Habitats of Espírito Santo (PELD-HCES; CNPq/FAPES grant #441243/2016-9) and by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) – Finance Code 001. Caio R. Pimentel also thanks the Fundação Estadual de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Espírito Santo (FAPES) for the PhD scholarship. Tommaso Giarrizzo received a productivity grant from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq #311078/2019-2). We would like to thank our great friend Mauricio Vilella and the staff at his Pizzaria Namoita for all their care during our stay in Noronha. We are very grateful to Patrick Muller, Ismael Escote and the great team of Atlantis Divers for all logistical and technical diving

support. We also thank Raphael M. Macieira for helping with the fieldwork; Mauritius V. Bell and Allison Shafer for technical diving support; Zaira Matheus for sharing photos and deep dive sites; Kathiani V. Bastos (CIUFES) and Cristina Castillo for help with logistics; José Carlos Marenga, Alexandre Carvalho and the crew of the vessel Capitania I; the whole Marine National Park team for their support; Gabriel Cardozo-Ferreira, Alfredo Carvalho-Filho and Luke Tornabene kindly helped us identify several species. Fee waivers, administrative and environmental authorizations were provided by the Administration of Fernando de Noronha (ATDEFN), the Brazilian Environmental Agency (ICMBio, license #64991-3), Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo (PRPPG and Reitoria) and Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq). Fish collections followed the California Academy of Sciences Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) policies and procedures.

REFERENCES

- Afonso AS, Garla R, Hazin FHV. Tiger sharks can connect equatorial habitats and fisheries across the Atlantic Ocean basin. PLoS One. 2017; 12(9): e0184763. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0184763
- Almeida FFM. Ilhas oceânicas brasileiras e suas relações com a tectônica atlântica. Terræ Didatica. 2006; 2(1):3–18
- Andrades R, Reis-Filho JA, Macieira RM, Giarrizzo T, Joyeux J-C. Endemic fish species structuring oceanic intertidal reef assemblages. Sci Rep. 2018; 8:10791. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29088-0
- Andradi-Brown DA, Macaya-Solis C, Exton DA, Gress E, Wright G, Rogers AD. Assessing Caribbean shallow and mesophotic reef fish communities using Baited-Remote Underwater Video (BRUV) and Diver-Operated Video (DOV) survey techniques. PLoS One. 2016; 11(12):e0168235. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0168235
- Araújo JL, Bernard E. Management effectiveness of a large marine protected area in Northeastern Brazil. Ocean Coast Manag. 2016; 130: 43–49. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2016.05.009
- Batista H, Zill J, Veras D, Hazin F, Oliveira P, Marins Y, Oliveira D, Pereira R, Tolotti M, Silva M. New records of reef fishes (Teleostei: Perciformes) in the Rocas Atoll Biological Reserve, off northeastern Brazil. Check List. 2012; 8(3):584–88. https://doi.org/10.15560/8.3.584

- Brandl SJ, Tornabene L, Goatley CH, Casey JM, Morais RA, Côté IM, Baldwin CC, Parravicini V, Schiettekatte NMD, Bellwood DR. Demographic dynamics of the smallest marine vertebrates fuel coral reef ecosystem functioning. Science. 2019; 364(6446):1189–92. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.aav3384
- Brasil. Decreto nº 92.755, de 5 de junho de 1986. Diário Oficial da União, Poder Executivo, Brasília, DF, 6 jun. 1986. Available at: http://www.planalto.gov.br/ ccivil_03/decreto/1980-1989/1985-1987/ D92755.htm
- Brasil. Decreto nº 96.693, de 14 de setembro de 1988. Diário Oficial da União, Poder Executivo, Brasília, DF, 15 set. 1988. Available at: https://www2.camara.leg.br/ legin/fed/decret/1988/decreto-96693-14setembro-1988-447461-publicacaooriginal-1-pe.html
- Brown J, Beard A, Clingham E, Fricke R, Henry L, Wirtz P. The fishes of St Helena Island, central Atlantic Ocean–new records and an annotated check-list. Zootaxa. 2019; 4543(2):151–94. http://dx.doi. org/10.11646/zootaxa.4543.2.1
- Carvalho-Filho A, Macena BCL, Nunes DM. A new species of Anthiadinae (Teleostei: Serranidae) from São Pedro and São Paulo Archipelago, Brazil, Equatorial Atlantic. Zootaxa. 2016; 4139(4):585–92. http://dx.doi.org/10.11646/ zootaxa.4139.4.10

12/17

- Collette BB, Williams JT, Thacker CE, Smith ML. Shore fishes of Navassa Island, West Indies: a case study on the need for rotenone sampling in reef fish biodiversity studies. Aqua. 2003; 6(3):89–131.
- Ferreira CEL, Floeter SR, Gasparini JL, Ferreira BP, Joyeux J-C. Trophic structure patterns of Brazilian reef fishes: a latitudinal comparison. J Biogeogr. 2004; 31(7):1093–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2699.2004.01044.x
- Floeter SR, Rocha LA, Robertson DR, Joyeux J-C, Smith-Vaniz WF, Wirtz P, Edwards AJ, Barreiros JP, Ferreira CEL, Gasparini JL, Brito A, Falcón JM, Bowen BW, Bernardi G. Atlantic reef fish biogeography and evolution. J Biogeogr. 2008; 35(1):22–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2699.2007.01790.x
- Francini-Filho RB, Velásquez VM, Silva MB, Rosa MR, Sumida PYG, Pinheiro HT, Rocha LA, Ferrreira CEL, Francini CLB, Rosa RS. Brazil. In: Loya Y, Puglise K, Bridge T, editors. Mesophotic Coral Ecosystems. Cham: Springer; 2019. p.163– 198.
- Froese R, Pauly D. FishBase. World Wide Web electronic publication. Version (12/2019). 2019. Available from: www. fishbase.org
- Garla RC, Chapman DD, Wetherbee BM, Shivji M. Movement patterns of young Caribbean reef sharks, *Carcharhinus perezi*, at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, Brazil: the potential of marine protected areas for conservation of a nursery ground. Mar Biol. 2006; 149:189–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-005-0201-4
- Hachich NF, Bonsall MB, Arraut EM, Barneche DR, Lewinsohn TM, Floeter SR. Island biogeography: patterns of marine shallow-water organisms in the Atlantic Ocean. J Biogeogr. 2015; 42(10):1871–1882. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12560
- Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos Naturais Renováveis (Ibama). Plano de Manejo do Parque Nacional Marinho de Fernando de Noronha. Brasília, 1990. Available from: https://www.icmbio.gov.br/portal/ images/stories/biodiversidade/_PARNA_ MARINHA_DE_FERNANDO_DE_NORONHA. pdf

- Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade (ICMBio). Plano de Manejo da Área de Proteção Ambiental de Fernando de Noronha – Rocas – São Pedro e São Paulo. Brasília, 2017. Available from: https://www.icmbio.gov.br/portal/ images/stories/plano-de-manejo/plano_de_ manejo_parna_ferando-de-noronha.pdf
- Ilarri MI, Souza AT, Rosa RS. Community structure of reef fishes in shallow waters of the Fernando de Noronha archipelago: effects of different levels of environmental protection. Mar Freshwater Res. 2017; 68(7): 1303–316. https://doi.org/10.1071/ MF16071
- Knudsen SW, Clements KD. Revision of the fish family Kyphosidae (Teleostei: Perciformes). Zootaxa. 2013; 3751(1):1–101. https://doi.org/10.11646/ zootaxa.3751.1.1
- Kosaki RK, Pyle RL, Leonard JC, Hauk BB, Whitton RK, Wagner D. 100% endemism in mesophotic reef fish assemblages at Kure Atoll, Hawaiian Islands. Mar Biodivers. 2017; 47:783–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12526-016-0510-5
- **Krajewski JP, Floeter SR.** Reef fish community structure of the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago (Equatorial Western Atlantic): the influence of exposure and benthic composition. Environ Biol Fish. 2011; 92:25–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10641-011-9813-3
- Liu J, Zapfe G, Shao K-T, Leis JL, Matsuura K, Hardy G, Liu M, Tyler J. Balistes capriscus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015: e.T193736A97662794. (errata version published in 2016). Downloaded on 06 March 2020.
- Losos J, Ricklefs R. Adaptation and diversification on islands. Nature. 2009; 457:830–36. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature07893
- Macieira RM, Simon T, Pimentel CR, Joyeux J-C. Isolation and speciation of tidepool fishes as a consequence of Quaternary sea-level fluctuations. Environ Biol Fish. 2015; 98:385–93. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10641-014-0269-0

- Matheus Z, Francini-Filho RB, Pereira-Filho GH, Moraes FC, Moura RLd, Brasileiro RPS, Amado-Filho GM. Benthic reef assemblages of the Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, tropical Southwest Atlantic: Effects of depth, wave exposure and cross-shelf positioning. PLoS One. 2019; 14(1):e0210664. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210664
- Mazzei EF, Pinheiro HT, Morais RA, Floeter SR, Veras DP, Queiroz LV, Joyeux J-C, Ferreira CEL. Parrotfishes of the genus *Scarus* in southwestern Atlantic oceanic reef environments: occasional pulse or initial colonization?. Mar Biodivers. 2019; 49:555–61. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12526-017-0827-8
- Medeiros PR, Rosa RS, Francini-Filho RB. Dynamics of fish assemblages on a continuous rocky reef and adjacent unconsolidated habitats at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, tropical western Atlantic. Neotrop Ichthyol. 2011; 9(4):869–79. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252011005000048
- **Menezes NA.** A new species of *Paratrachichthys* from the coast of Brazil (Pisces, Trachichthyidae). Pap Avulsos Zool. 1971; 25:143–48
- Miranda Ribeiro A. A fauna vertebrada da Ilha da Trindade. Arch Mus Nac (Rio de J). 1919; 22:171–194
- Moore J. Aulotrachichthys argyrophanus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2019: e.T20662062A20682663. https:// dx.doi. org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2019-2.RLTS. T20662062A20682663.en. Downloaded on 06 March 2020.
- Moura RL, Rodrigues MCM, Francini-Filho RB, Sazima I. Unexpected richness of reef corals near the southern Amazon River mouth. Coral Reefs. 1999; 18:170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003380050175
- Nelson JS, Grande TC, Wilson MVH. Fishes of the world. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley & Sons; 2016.
- Pereira-Filho GH, Amado-Filho GM, Guimarães SMPB, Moura RL, Sumida PYG, Abrantes DP, Bahia RG, Güth AZ, Jorge RR, Francini Filho RB. Reef fish and benthic assemblages of the Trindade and Martin Vaz Island group, southwestern Atlantic. Braz J Oceanogr. 2011; 59(3), 201–12. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-87592011000300001

- Pernambuco. Decreto Distrital no 002, de 12 de dezembro de 2018. Diário Oficial do Estado de Pernambuco, Poder Executivo, Recife, PE, 13 dez. 2018. Available at: http://www.noronha.pe.gov. br/instLegislacao.php?cat=3
- Pimentel CR, Andrades R, Ferreira CEL, Gadig OBF, Harvey ES, Joyeux J-C, Giarrizzo T. BRUVS reveal locally extinct shark and the way for shark monitoring in Brazilian oceanic islands. J Fish Biol. 2020; 96(2):539–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jfb.14228
- Pinheiro HT, Bernardi G, Simon T, Joyeux J-C, Macieira RM, Gasparini JL, Rocha C, Rocha LA. Island biogeography of marine organisms. Nature. 2017; 549:82–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature23680
- Pinheiro HT, Mazzei E, Moura RL, Amado-Filho GM, Carvalho-Filho A, Braga AC, Costa PAS, Ferreira BP, Ferreira CEL, Floeter SR, Francini-Filho RB, Gasparini JL, Macieira RM, Martins AS, Olavo G, Pimentel CR, Rocha LA, Sazima I, Simon T, Teixeira JB, Xavier LB, Joyeux J-C. Fish biodiversity of the Vitória-Trindade Seamount Chain, southwestern Atlantic: an updated database. PLoS One. 2015; 10(3):e0118180. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0118180
- Pinheiro HT, Rocha C, Rocha LA. *Tosanoides aphrodite*, a new species from mesophotic coral ecosystems of St. Paul's Rocks, Mid Atlantic Ridge (Perciformes, Serranidae, Anthiadinae). ZooKeys. 2018b; 786:105–115. https://doi.org/10.3897/ zookeys.786.27382
- Pinheiro HT, Rocha LA, Macieira RM, Carvalho-Filho A, Anderson AB, Bender MG, Di Dario F, Ferreira CEL, Figueiredo-Filho J, Francini-Filho R, Gasparini JL, Joyeux J-C, Luiz OJ, Mincarone MM, Moura RL, Nunes JACC, Quimbayo JP, Rosa RS, Sampaio CLS, Sazima I, Simon T, Vila-Nova DA, Floeter SR. South-western Atlantic reef fishes: Zoogeographical patterns and ecological drivers reveal a secondary biodiversity centre in the Atlantic Ocean. Divers Distrib. 2018a; 24(7):951–65. https://doi. org/10.1111/ddi.12729

14/17

- Pinheiro HT, Shepherd B, Castillo C, Abesamis RA, Copus JM, Pyle RL, Greene BD, Coleman RR, Whitton RK, Thillainath E, Bucol AA, Birt M, Catania D, Bell MV, Rocha LA. Deep reef fishes in the world's epicenter of marine biodiversity. Coral Reefs. 2019; 38:985–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-019-01825-5
- Pinheiro HT, Macena BCL, Francini-Filho RB, Ferreira CEL, Albuquerque FV, Bezerra NPA, Carvalho-Filho A, Ferreira RCP, Luiz OJ, Mello TJ, Mendonça SA, Nunes DM, Pimentel CR, Pires AMA, Soares-Gomes A, Viana DL, Hazin FHV, Rocha LA. Fish biodiversity of Saint Peter and Saint Paul's Archipelago, Mid-Atlantic Ridge, Brazil: new records and a species database. J Fish Biol. 2020; 97(4):1143–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14484
- Pyle RL, Boland R, Bolick H, Bowen BW, Bradley CJ, Kane C, Kosaki RK, Langston R, Longenecker K, Montgomery A, Parrish FA, Popp BN, Rooney J, Smith CM, Wagner D, Spalding HL. A comprehensive investigation of mesophotic coral ecosystems in the Hawaiian Archipelago. PeerJ. 2016; 4:e2475. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2475
- **Pyle RL, Copus MJ.** Mesophotic coral ecosystems: introduction and overview. In: Loya Y, Puglise KA, Bridge TCL, editors. Mesophotic coral ecosystems. Cham: Springer; 2019. p.3–27.
- Pyle RL, Kosaki RK, Pinheiro HT, Rocha LA, Whitton RK, Copus JM. Fishes: biodiversity. In: Loya Y, Puglise KA, Bridge TCL, editors. Mesophotic coral ecosystems. Cham: Springer; 2019. p.749–77.
- Quimbayo JP, Dias MS, Kulbicki M, Mendes TC, Lamb RW, Johnson AF, Aburto-Oropeza O, Alvarado JJ, Bocos AA, Ferreira CEL, Garcia E, Luiz OJ, Mascareñas-Osorio I, Pinheiro HT, Rodriguez-Zaragoza F, Salas E, Zapata FA, Floeter SR. Determinants of reef fish assemblages in Tropical Oceanic Islands. Ecography. 2019; 42(1):77–87. https://doi. org/10.1111/ecog.03506
- Robertson DR, Van Tassell J. Shorefishes of the Greater Caribbean: online information system. Version 2.0. Balboa: Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute; 2019. Available from: https://biogeodb.stri. si.edu/caribbean/en/pages

- Rocha LA, Pinheiro HT, Shepherd B, Papastamatiou YP, Luiz OJ, Pyle RL, Bongaerts P. Mesophotic coral ecosystems are threatened and ecologically distinct from shallow water reefs. Science. 2018; 361(6399):281–84. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.aaq1614
- Rodríguez-Rey GT, Carvalho Filho A, Araújo ME, Solé-Cava AM. Evolutionary history of *Bathygobius* (Perciformes: Gobiidae) in the Atlantic biogeographic provinces: a new endemic species and old mitochondrial lineages. Zool J Linnean Soc. 2018; 182(2):360–84. https://doi. org/10.1093/zoolinnean/zlx026
- Rosa MR, Alves AC, Medeiros DV, Coni EOC, Ferreira CM, Ferreira BP, Rosa RS, Amado-Filho GM, Pereira-Filho GH, Moura RL, Thompson FL, Sumida PYG, Francini-Filho RB. Mesophotic reef fish assemblages of the remote St. Peter and St. Paul's Archipelago, Mid-Atlantic Ridge, Brazil. Coral Reefs. 2015; 35:113–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-015-1368-x
- Sazima I, Grossman A, Sazima C. Deep cleaning: a wrasse and a goby clean reef fish below 60 m depth in the tropical south-western Atlantic. Mar Biodivers Rec. 2010; 3:E60. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1755267210000497
- Simon T, Macieira RM, Joyeux J-C. The shore fishes of the Trindade-Martin Vaz insular complex: an update. J Fish Biol. 2013; 82(6):2113–27. https://doi. org/10.1111/jfb.12126
- Simon T, Pinheiro HT, Moura RL, Carvalho-Filho A, Rocha LA, Martins AS, Mazzei EF, Francini-Filho RB, Amado-Filho GM, Joyeux J-C. Mesophotic fishes of the Abrolhos Shelf, the largest reef ecosystem in the South Atlantic. J Fish Biol. 2016; 89(1):990–1001. https://doi. org/10.1111/jfb.12967
- Sinniger F, Ballantine DL, Bejarano I, Colin PL, Pochon X, Pomponi SA, Puglise KA, Pyle RL, Reaka ML, Spalding HL, Weil E. Biodiversity of mesophotic coral ecosystems. In: Baker EK, Puglise KA, Harris PT, editors. Mesophotic coral ecosystems – a lifeboat for coral reefs? Nairobi and Arendal: The United Nations Environment Programme and GRID-Arendal; 2016. p.50–62.

- Smith-Vaniz WF, Tornabene L, Macieira RM. Review of Brazilian jawfishes of the genus *Opistognathus* with descriptions of two new species (Teleostei, Opistognathidae). Zookeys. 2018; 794:95–133. https://doi.org/10.3897/ zookeys.794.26789
- Vaske Jr T, Lessa RP, Nóbrega MF, Montealegre-Quijano S, Marcante Santana F, Bezerra Jr JL. A checklist of fishes from Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago, Brazil. J Appl Ichthyol. 2005; 21(1):75–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.2004.00600.x
- Williams JT, Carpenter KE, Van Tassell JL, Hoetjes P, Toller W, Etnoyer P, Smith M. Biodiversity assessment of the fishes of Saba Bank Atoll, Netherlands Antilles. PLoS One. 2010; 5(5):e10676. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010676
- Wirtz P, Bingeman J, Bingeman J, Fricke R, Hook TJ, Young J. The fishes of Ascension Island, central Atlantic Ocean: new records and an annotated checklist. J Mar Biol Assoc UK. 2017; 97(4):783–98. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315414001301

AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION

Caio R. Pimentel: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Luiz A. Rocha: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Bart Shepherd: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Tyler A. Y. Phelps: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Jean-Christophe Joyeux: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Agnaldo S. Martins: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Carlos Eduardo Stein: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. João B. Teixeira: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. João Luiz Gasparini: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. José Amorim Reis-Filho: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Ricardo C. Garla: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software,

Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Ronaldo B. Francini-Filho: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Stephanie D. T. Delfino: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Thayná J. Mello: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Tommaso Giarrizzo: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. Hudson T. Pinheiro: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing.

ETHICAL STATEMENT

The Brazilian Environmental Agency (ICMBio, license #64991-3).

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors declare no competing interests.

HOW TO CITE THIS ARTICLE

Pimentel CR, Rocha LA, Shepherd B, Phelps T, Joyeux J-C, Martins AS, Stein CE, Teixeira JB, Gasparini JL, Reis-Filho JA, Garla RC, Francini-Filho RB, Delfino SDT, Mello TJ, Giarrizzo T, Pinheiro HT. Mesophotic ecosystems at Fernando de Noronha Archipelago, Brazil (South-western Atlantic), reveal unique ichthyofauna and need for conservation. Neotrop Ichthyol. 2020; 18(4):e200050. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0224-2020-0050





This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Distributed under Creative Commons CC-BY 4.0

© 2020 The Authors. Diversity and Distributions Published by SBI



Official Journal of the Sociedade Brasileira de Ictiologia Capítulo 4 - BRUVS reveal locally extinct shark and the way for shark monitoring in Brazilian oceanic islands



DOI: 10.1111/ifb.14228

BRIEF COMMUNICATION

JOURNAL OF **FISH**BIOLOGY

BRUVS reveal locally extinct shark and the way for shark monitoring in Brazilian oceanic islands

Caio R. Pimentel¹ kterica Rvan Andrades¹ Carlos E. L. Ferreira² Tommaso Giarrizzo⁵ 💿

Otto B. F. Gadig³ | Euan S. Harvey⁴ | Jean-Christophe Joyeux¹ |

¹Programa de Pós-Graduação em Oceanografia Ambiental, Departamento de Oceanografia, Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, Vitória, Brazil ²Departamento de Biologia Marinha, Universidade Federal Fluminense, Niterói, Brazil

³Instituto de Biociências, Universidade Estadual Paulista, São Paulo, Brazil

⁴School of Molecular and Life Sciences, Curtin University, Perth, Western Australia, Australia

⁵Universidade Federal do Pará (UFPA), Núcleo de Ecologia Aquática e Pesca da Amazônia, Aquatic Ecology Group's Lab, Belém, Brazil

Correspondence

Caio R. Pimentel, Departamento de Oceanografia, Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, Avenida Fernando Ferrari, 514, Goiabeiras, 29075-910 Vitória, ES, Brazil. Email: caiopimentelr@gmail.com

Funding information

This study was funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (http://dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100003593) through the scientific programs LTER (PELD-ILOC grant 441241/2016-6 and PELD-HCES grant 441243/2016-9; the latter with additional funding from Fundação Estadual de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Espírito Santo (http://dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100006182) and PROTRINDADE (grant 405426/2012-7). CRP also thanks Fundação Estadual de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Espírito Santo (http:// dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100006182) for the PhD scholarship and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (http://dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100002322) finance code 001, for the PDSE fellowship.

ABSTRACT

Here we present records of sharks obtained using baited remote underwater stereovideo systems (stereo-BRUVS) at two Brazilian oceanic islands. Fourteen of the 60 deployments recorded 19 sharks in Trindade Island. In Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago (SPSPA), two pelagic and two demersal deployments recorded two and one shark, respectively, including the locally extinct Galapagos shark Carcharhinus galapagensis. Stereo-BRUVS should be considered as adjuncts to other non-invasive methods to monitor shark populations.

KEYWORDS

Carcharhinus galapagensis, conservation status, elasmobranch, reef fish, south-western Atlantic Ocean

One hundred and sixty-five species of elasmobranchs have been recorded off the Brazilian coast (Rosa & Gadig, 2014). Although representing only c. 13% of the fish species (Menezes et al., 2003), sharks and rays species account for 55% of the endangered Brazilian marine ichthyofauna (ICMBio, 2018), with 54 species classified in the IUCN threat categories: Vulnerable, Endangered or Critically Endangered. The main challenge for assessing population trends and conservation statuses of many shark species is the lack of population data (Rosa & Gadig, 2014).

Here, we present records of sharks obtained from surveys using baited remote underwater stereo-video systems (stereo-BRUVS) at the Brazilian oceanic islands of Trindade (October 2017) and Saint

Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago (SPSPA; September 2018; Supporting Information Video V1). Trindade (20° 30' S; 29° 20' W) is a volcanic island located 1160 km off the coast of Espírito Santo state, south-western Atlantic Ocean, and together with Martin Vaz Archipelago constitutes the eastern end of the Vitória-Trindade Chain. The SPSPA (0° 55' N; 29° 21' W) is a small group of rocky islets located about 1000 km off the north-eastern Brazilian coast, on the Mid-Atlantic Ridge in the central equatorial Atlantic Ocean.

Sampling complied with Brazilian laws and was authorized by the Federal Government under the environmental permits #403740/2012-6 and #405426/2012-7.

TABLE 1 Length measurements of the shark species recorded at the Brazilian oceanic islands of Trindade and Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago (SPSPA)

	Fork length (m)											
Trindade												
Carcharhinus perezi	0.79	0.82	0.90	0.95	1.01	1.12	1.29	1.48				
Galeocerdo cuvier	2.57	2.69										
Ginglymostoma cirratum	1.10	2.05										
Sphyrna lewini	2.08											
SPSPA												
Carcharhinus falciformis	1.22	1.27	1.41	1.46								
Carcharhinus galapagensis	2.19											



FIGURE 1 Shark species recorded using baited remote underwater stereo-video systems (stereo-BRUVS) at the Brazilian oceanic islands of Trindade: a and b) tiger shark *Galeocerdo cuvier*; c and d) caribbean reef shark *Carcharhinus perezi*; e and f) nurse shark *Ginglymostoma cirratum*; g and h) scalloped hammerhead shark *Sphyrna lewini*; and Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago: i) Galapagos shark *Carcharhinus galapagensis* and j) silky shark *Carcharhinus falciformis* Demersal stereo-BRUVS were deployed at depths of 10 – 74 m in Trindade (60 h of footage; n = 60 samples) and 30 – 85 m in SPSPA (14 h of footage; n = 14). Pelagic stereo-BRUVS were deployed in SPSPA (10 h of footage; n = 5) at 20 and 30 m depths. In Trindade, stereo-BRUVS were baited with 500 g of small pieces of thawed Brazilian sardinella *Sardinella brasiliensis* (Steindachner 1879), and with 500 g (demersal) or 1 kg (pelagic) of crushed thawed herring *Harengula* sp. in SPSPA. We calibrated the stereo-BRUVS using the CAL software and analysed the video samples using the EventMeasure software (www.seagis.com.au). We identified the sharks at the species level and recorded the relative abundance as the maximum number of individuals of the same species present in a single frame (N_{max} ; Cappo *et al.*, 2004). We measured the fork length (L_F) of all individuals according to the distance (≤ 7 m) and angle ($\leq 45^\circ$) to the cameras and the measurement precision (≤ 1 cm).

Fourteen of the 60 deployments recorded 19 sharks in Trindade Island, including two tiger sharks *Galeocerdo cuvier* (Péron & LeSueur 1822) (mean L_F = 2.63 m; Table 1), 11 Caribbean reef sharks *Carcharhinus perezi* (Poey 1876) (mean L_F = 1.05 m), two nurse sharks *Ginglymostoma cirratum* (Bonnaterre 1788) (mean L_F = 1.57 m) and three scalloped hammerhead sharks *Sphyma lewini* (Griffith & Smith 1834) (L_F = 2.08 m; Figure 1a–h). In SPSPA, only two of five pelagic deployments recorded sharks, two silky sharks *Carcharhinus falciformis* (Müller & Henle 1839) (mean L_F = 1.34 m) in each deployment, and two of 14 demersal deployments recorded one silky shark (not measured) and one Galapagos shark *Carcharhinus galapagensis* (Snodgrass & Heller 1905) (L_F = 2.19 m) (Figure 1i,j).

The main diagnostic characteristics that allowed us to differentiate the Galapagos shark from its congener, the dusky shark *Carcharhinus obscurus* (LeSueur 1818), were the first dorsal fin rather high and straight (only slightly curved near the tip), and a relatively high and short second dorsal fin, as is observed for the anal fin (Garrick, 1982; Voigt & Weber, 2011). Galapagos sharks were regarded as locally extinct in SPSPA (Luiz & Edwards, 2011), although this archipelago has been a designated multiple-use marine protected area (MPA) since 1986 (Brasil, 1986). The main threats are longline and hand line fishing, which until the 1970s caught large quantities of these sharks with low reproductive capacity and limited intrinsic rebound potential (Luiz & Edwards, 2011).

Systematic fish and shark studies using other non-invasive methods (*e.g.*, underwater visual census (UVC) and remotely operated vehicle (ROV)) in these two Brazilian oceanic islands have not recorded sharks in recent decades (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2011; Luiz *et al.*, 2015; Rosa *et al.*, 2016). However, it is noteworthy that a small number of sharks have been occasionally sighted, such as nurse and Caribbean reef sharks at Trindade, as well as a hammerhead shark (in 2009; C. E. L. Ferreira, pers. comm.) and a six-gill shark *Hexanchus griseus* (Bonnaterre 1788) (in 2018; H. T. Pinheiro & L. A. Rocha, pers. comm.) in SPSPA. Our data demonstrate the advantages of using stereo-BRUVS for sampling sharks and rays (Harvey *et al.*, 2018) as a complementary tool to more traditional methods (Langlois *et al.*, 2010; Rolim *et al.*, 2019), particularly in fishery-affected ecosystems. Despite the

overfishing of sharks at these Brazilian oceanic islands (Luiz & Edwards, 2011; Pinheiro *et al.*, 2011), these results demonstrate that a few have remained or occasional individuals have migrated from outer areas.

Long-term monitoring with stereo-BRUVS would confirm local extinctions, indicate stray specimens or follow population recovery. For example, while a few fishery-dependent records of Galapagos sharks near SPSPA have been published subsequent to Luiz & Edwards (2011) paper (Hazin *et al.*, 2018), neither those nor our record indicate a recovery of the population. Instead, it brings attention to the urgent need to monitor and assess the population trends of this Critically Threatened species (ICMBio, 2018), especially now that part of these two oceanic islands have been established as no-take areas (Brasil, 2018; Giglio *et al.*, 2018).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Guilherme O. Longo and his students, Juliana M. Andrade, Moysés C. Barbosa, Thayná J. Mello and Larissa Benevides for their help during the scientific expeditions. We are very grateful to the entire crew of RV *Alpha* and to the Brazilian Navy divers P. Cesar and R. D'Ávila who helped us with the heavy fieldwork. We also thank the Brazilian Navy and SECIRM for the fundamental logistic support.

ORCID

Caio R. Pimentel https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4110-1249 Ryan Andrades https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2418-1072 Carlos E. L. Ferreira https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4311-0491 Otto B. F. Gadig https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8109-5085 Euan S. Harvey https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9069-4581 Tommaso Giarrizzo https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5116-5206

REFERENCES

- Brasil. Decreto n° 9.312, de 19 de março de 2018. Diário Oficial da União, Poder Executivo, Brasília, DF, 20 mar. 2018. Seção 1, p. 1
- Brasil. Decreto n° 92.755, de 5 de junho de 1986. Diário Oficial da União, Poder Executivo, Brasília, DF, 5 jun. 1986. Seção 1, p. 8147
- Cappo, M., Speare, P., & D'eath, G. (2004). Comparison of Baited Remote Underwater Video Stations (BRUVS) and prawn (shrimp) trawls for assessments of fish biodiversity in inter-reefal areas of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 302, 123–152.
- Garrick, J. A. f. (1982). Sharks of the genus Carcharhinus. NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circular, 445, 194 p
- Giglio, V. J., Pinheiro, H. T., Bender, M. G., Bonaldo, R. M., Costa-Lotufo, L. V., Ferreira, C. E. L., ... Francini-Filho, R. B. (2018). Large and remote marine protected areas in the South Atlantic Ocean are flawed and raise concerns: Comments on Soares and Lucas (2018). *Marine Policy*, 96, 13–17.
- Harvey, E. S., Santana-Garcon, J., Jordan, G., Saunders, B. J., & Cappo, M. (2018). The use of stationary underwater video for sampling sharks. In J. Carrier, C. Simpfendorfer, & M. Heithaus (Eds.), Shark Research: Emerging Technologies and Applications for the Field and Laboratory. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Hazin, F. H. V., Rocha, B. C. L. M., Viana, D. L., Lana, F. O., Oliveira, L. P. P., Bezerra, N. P. A., & Mendonça, S. A. (2018). Elasmobrânquios do

Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo. In J. E. L. Oliveira, D. L. Viana, & M. A. C. Souza (Eds.), Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo: 20 anos de pesquisa (pp. 143–159). Recife, PE: Via Design Publicações.

- Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade. (2018). Livro Vermelho da Fauna Brasileira Ameaçada de Extinção: Volume VI - Peixes. Brasília, DF: ICMBio/MMA.
- Langlois, T. J., Harvey, E. S., Fitzpatrick, B., Meeuwig, J. J., Shedrawi, G., & Watson, D. L. (2010). Cost-efficient sampling of fish assemblages: comparison of baited video stations and diver video transects. *Aquatic Biology*, *9*, 155–168.
- Luiz, O. J., & Edwards, A. J. (2011). Extinction of a shark population in the Archipelago of Saint Paul's Rocks (equatorial Atlantic) inferred from the historical record. *Biological Conservation*, 144, 2873–2881.
- Luiz, O. J., Mendes, T. C., Barneche, D. R., Ferreira, C. G. W., Noguchi, R., Villaça, R. C., ... Ferreira, C. E. L. (2015). Community structure of reef fishes on a remote oceanic Island (St. Peter and St. Paul's Archipelago, equatorial Atlantic): the relative influence of abiotic and biotic variables. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *66*, 739–749.
- Menezes, N. A., Buckup, P. A., Figueiredo, J. L., & Moura, R. L. (2003). Catálogo das Espécies de Peixes Marinhos do Brasil. São Paulo, SP: Museu de Zoologia USP.
- Pinheiro, H. T., Ferreira, C. E. L., Joyeux, J. C., Santos, R. G., & Horta, P. A. (2011). Reef fish structure and distribution in a south-western Atlantic Ocean tropical Island. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 79(7), 1984–2006.
- Rolim, F. A., Langlois, T., Rodrigues, P. F. C., Bond, T., Motta, F. S., Neves, L. M., & Gadig, O. B. F. (2019). Network of small no-take

marine reserves reveals greater abundance and body size of fisheries target species. *PLoS One*, 14, e0204970. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204970.

- Rosa, M. R., Alves, A. C., Medeiros, D. V., Coni, E. O. C., Ferreira, C. M., Ferreira, B. P., ... Francini-Filho, R. B. (2016). Mesophotic reef fish assemblages of the remote St. Peter and St. Paul's Archipelago, mid-Atlantic ridge, Brazil. *Coral Reefs*, 35, 113–123.
- Rosa, R. S., & Gadig, O. B. F. (2014). Conhecimento da diversidade dos Chondrichthyes marinhos no Brasil: a contribuição de José Lima de Figueiredo. Arquivos de Zoologia, Museu de Zoologia da Universidade de São Paulo, 45, 89–104.
- Voigt, M., & Weber, D. (2011). Field guide for sharks of the genus Carcharhinus (p. 151). München: Verlag Dr. Friedrich Pfeil.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Pimentel CR, Andrades R,

Ferreira CEL, et al. BRUVS reveal locally extinct shark and the way for shark monitoring in Brazilian oceanic islands. *J Fish Biol.* 2020;96:539–542. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14228

Conclusão geral

Por meio dos estudos que compõem essa tese, foi possível avançarmos de forma substancial no entendimento sobre os processos ecológicos responsáveis pela estruturação das assembleias de peixes recifais em ilhas oceânicas, como também contribuirmos para aumentar o nosso conhecimento sobre a biodiversidade de peixes da Província Brasileira. Demonstramos que as assembleias de peixes respondem de forma distinta ao gradiente de profundidade e mudanças de habitats. No Arquipélago de São Pedro e São Paulo, inesperadamente, não encontramos assembleias de peixes claramente estruturadas de acordo com o gradiente de profundidade. Porém, a estrutura das assembleias estava altamente associada a espécies com afinidades a recifes rasos em oposição a espécies mais comuns em recifes profundos/mesofóticos. Esses grupos de espécies, possivelmente, estão mais relacionados a mudanças drásticas na temperatura da água, causadas por fortes eventos de ressurgência e subsidência entre 50 e 100 m de profundidade, influenciando assim o movimento vertical dos peixes ao longo do gradiente de profundidade. Além disso, a alta co-ocorrência de espécies nos ecossistemas pelágico e recifal indicam processos de conectividade ecológica entre esses ecossistemas. Portanto, nossos resultados demonstram que para a conservação da biodiversidade e manutenção dos processos ecológicos, é necessário protegermos não apenas as áreas recifais, mas também o ambiente pelágico ao seu redor. Na Ilha da Trindade as assembleias de peixes estão estruturadas de acordo com a variação dos habitats bentônicos ao longo do gradiente de profundidade da plataforma insular. A riqueza de espécies, a abundância total e o endemismo foram altamente relacionados ao habitat recifal, enquanto a biomassa total e a vulnerabilidade média apresentaram relação direta ao aumento da profundidade. Portanto, sugere-se que para garantir a conservação da biodiversidade marinha e das funções ecológicas intrínsecas a cada habitat, é necessária uma gestão integrada destes ambientes, abrangendo todo o gradiente de habitats bentônicos da plataforma insular. Em termos de biodiversidade, nossas descobertas e avanços demonstram a necessidade de continuarmos e ampliarmos nossos esforços de pesquisas nesses ecossistemas profundos e pouco estudados, assim como de proteção e atenção à essa ictiofauna única encontrada nesses ecossistemas.